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Wednesday, August 19, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today the Board is sitting in a combined hearing to hear the applications of Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Union Gas Limited.  These applications seek the approval of the Board of demand-side management or DSM programs and various DSM-related approvals for the years 2015 to 2020.  The Board has assigned these applications file numbers EB-2015-0049 and EB-2015-0029.

My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding in this matter.  Along with me are my colleagues, Allison Duff and Susan Frank.

We have 13 days in which to conclude oral testimony, cross-examination, and argument in-chief by the applicants.  We ask that the parties work with Board Staff throughout this process to make sure that we have up-to-date information with respect to scheduling matters.

The Panel asks that during this hearing, if you wish to use your handheld devices, you do so outside the hearing room.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Alex Smith, counsel for Union Gas.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Madam Chair.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Dennis O'Leary for Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MS. LONG:  Mr. O'Leary, good morning.

MR. POCH:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  David Poch for the Green Energy Coalition, and with me today is Mr. Kai Millyard.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch, thank you.

MS. VINCE:  Joanna Vince for the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association, and with me is Marion Fraser.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Vince, thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel, Tom Brett for the Building Owners and Managers Association.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Brett, good morning.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel, my name is Eden Alexander for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Alexander, thank you.

MS. KYRIAZIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair, it is Joanna Kyriazis here on behalf of APPrO, and Elisabeth DeMarco will also be monitoring remotely.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Kyriazis, thank you very much.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Buonaguro, good morning.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel, Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Girvan, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, thank you.

We are going to proceed this morning.  Mr. Millar, of course, introduce yourself.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me today are Valerie Bennett and Josh Wasylyk.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I understand, Mr. Smith, that you have a brief presentation this morning?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  It is going to be well under the hour suggested by the Board as the maximum.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  And we're going to then proceed to panel 1 on avoided costs, I understand, and everyone -- I see some people here who have not given time estimates, so I'm assuming that everyone who plans on cross-examining has indicated that to Mr. Millar.  If not, please do so at the first available opportunity at the break.

But Mr. Smith, we will proceed with the presentation, and if you could introduce your panel, and we will have them affirmed.

MR. SMITH:  Certainly, Madam Chair.  Sitting to my left is Mr. Michael Sloan, to his left is Tracy Lynch, and to her left is Drew Quigley.  Drew Quigley is a replacement for Chris Shorts, as the other parties were advised yesterday.

And at this point it may make sense to affirm the panel before we proceed into the presentation.

MS. LONG:  Yes.  Thank you.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1, AVOIDED COSTS


Tracy Lynch, Affirmed


Michael Sloan, Affirmed


Drew Quigley, Affirmed

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Member Frank.

Before we proceed into the presentation I will make two very brief remarks.  The presentation is going to be made by Ms. Tracy Lynch, and what we had envisioned for this presentation, subject to guidance from the Board, is that Ms. Lynch will give -- will respond to the areas of concern identified by the Board.

To the extent that she can answer questions now, she's happy to do so.  To the extent that she can't answer questions now because she's reliant on the evidence of others on panels who aren't there right now, Union will undertake to make sure that any questions -- any such questions are dealt with at the outset of that panel giving its evidence, if that's agreeable to the Board.

We had envisioned that, to the extent that intervenors had questions arising from the presentation, that would be appropriately advanced to the panel dealing with those issues, subject to, again, the Board's direction.

MS. LONG:  I think that's fine.  I mean, to the extent that there's questions of clarification with -- in respect of what the panel has said, we may entertain some questions on that, but given the time constraint we have with your expert witness today, I don't want to spend a lot of time on panel 1.  We can perhaps park those questions until the appropriate panel, as you suggest, because I do want to ensure that we have enough time for cross-examination of your expert today.

MR. SMITH:  Much appreciated, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So with that, I will hand it over to Ms. Lynch, and Ms. Lynch, before you go into your presentation, perhaps you could just give your title as well.
Presentation by Ms. Lynch:

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I'm director of energy conservation strategy for Union Gas.

Good morning.  I'm giving this presentation at the Board's request to provide an overview of Union's 2015 to 2020 DSM plan.  I appreciate the opportunity, and as Mr. Smith noted, if there are questions I will endeavour to answer them or indicate that they go to the appropriate panel.

Just by way of background, Union Gas has been delivering conservation programs quite successfully since 1997 that have generated significant savings for our customers.  The frameworks that we have operated under over the years have changed considerably and evolved, and that evolution has been critical to the success that we have today in the programs that we deliver.

In the significance of this application, it is the first DSM plan that Union has filed since the Government of Ontario issued its updated long-term energy plan in 2013 which put an emphasis on the importance of energy conservation.

In March of last year, the Minister of Energy issued its directive to the OEB that, among other things, required the development of our new DSM policy framework, and then late last year the Board, of course, issued the DSM framework and indicated that at that time we were to file plans for 2015 to 2020 by April 1st of this year.

The significance for Union of this application is that the new DSM framework contains a significant increase in the budget guidance provided with respect to conservation, and Union's annual budget in the plan before you is increasing from 34 million in 2015 to 60 million in 2020, with an overall budget prior to the application of inflation of 321 million for the term of the plan.

As we've proposed within the plan, that would achieve 8 billion lifetime cubic metres of natural gas savings and total resource cost net benefits of $1 billion.

The six-year framework represents a longer term commitment to conservation, and that's certainly a welcome for us as well.

Union's approach in developing the plan was to take a balanced approach overall, recognizing the importance of meeting the needs of our customers to promote the culture of conservation, but also to fulfil the Board's request to enable and incorporate ten guiding principles and six key priority areas, as outlined in the framework.

We've also endeavoured to respond to input received  from stakeholders, and in doing that, it is all while adhering to, in our plan, the budget guidance provided by the Board at the maximum level, as well as the guidance that, for a typical residential customer, the impact should be no more than $2 a month on average.

I would like to note that there are a couple of areas in our plan where we see material variations from the framework in what we have proposed.  Those areas include the treatment of T1 customers, who we have proposed to include on our resource acquisition scorecard.  We have also not proposed a fee for service program for our large volume T2 rate 100 customers.

In addition, in determining Union's scorecard achievement and results, we feel very strongly that revised input assumptions and adjustment factors should be applied on a prospective basis, and we've outlined that at Exhibit A, tab 3, page 17.

In addition, in establishing the upper band for our targets, we've established it at 125 percent.  We outline that at Exhibit A, tab 3, page 17 and provide further detail at Exhibit B, tab T2, Union.Staff.4.

As noted in our plan, Union has built our scorecard targets to achieve the budget guidance with the mind of achieving our 100 percent targets of that guidance.

With that that in mind, the framework allows us to do a 15 percent overspend and to be able to achieve 150 percent or a 50 percent increase with a 15 percent overspend was just not proportional for us and seen as reasonable stretch.

In addressing our customers' needs, we've considered barriers to participation, which we've outlined at Exhibit A, tab 1, page 15, and a couple of examples that we include are the importance of education and ensuring that we have new offerings.

In addition, we've looked at increased incentive levels which are critical to overcoming some of the cost barriers that are -- cost barriers in increasing energy -- or investing in energy efficiency.

As far as the process that we used for developing our targets and budgets, we look to set our annual and long term targets based on a detailed analysis that was performed.  We performed it on a bottom-up approach, and it was based on our experience, program potential, and what we saw as the market opportunities in different areas.

This included building on the existing programs we have that have been successful, as well as identifying and proposing new program offerings in the residential, low-income, commercial-industrial and for large volume customers.

Our approach was informed by the Board's framework and guidelines, which included the budget and rate impact guidance as I've noted, as well as the guiding principles and key priorities.

We then assessed the offerings we would propose, the expected savings we thought we could achieve with the budget required, and this was done through an iterative process to determine the plan that we now have before you.

The result is a balanced cost effective plan that does meet the budget guidance provided.

In considering other scenarios, we did complete a sensitivity analysis that is outlined at Exhibit A, tab 3, appendix G, and we've outlined three alternative budget scenarios.

One, the first one is really the base budget that we would see, which is slightly lower than what we have proposed, the base we would see required to implement the guiding principles and the priorities of the Board.

The next scenario considered, if we spent the budget as we proposed in 2020, as well as the overspend and then 5 million in additional spending, what would that achieve.  And then we went on to do the same with the maximum budget guidance, the overspend and $10 million, just to demonstrate where we saw directionally some of the considerations with respect to sensitivity in the budget.

As has happened in the past, I expect over the course of the framework there will be additional changes that will impact our approach to the plan.  So, with that in mind, to address what we would see as program and market changes, Union has proposed that in its 2017 to 2020 resource acquisition, low-income and performance-based scorecards, that we use a formulaic target-setting methodology.

This ensures that while Union strives to achieve expense exemplary results, the following year's targets are adjusted to reflect that performance.

In addition, we have also identified that there are two pieces of work that are currently underway with our technical evaluation committee.  Those are the completion of the technical reference manual for many of our input assumptions, as well as a net to gross study to be completed on our custom projects.

We have identified that given the significance of those pieces of work, it will be important that we adjust the 2016 targets as we've proposed to account for those pieces of work, and then the formulaic approach would take us forward from there.

In addition, as I've said that the framework has continued to evolve, I expect it will continue to evolve.  With that in mind, I expect that we will see key pieces of information that will inform us further as we go through this framework, including key policy decisions around the structure of a cap and trade system in Ontario, as well as key studies that we have identified in our plan, including DSM and infrastructure planning and the achievable potential study.

We do feel that the mid-term review has been identified as the appropriate place for consideration of key framework items that will want to be considered, because that is really the time where we can adapt to actual developments and not the anticipated developments that we may see at this point.

As far as challenges to implementing the new framework and guidelines, one of the biggest challenges I would say overall was striking that right balance, and I say that in that there are some natural tensions between some of the priorities that have been identified.  And with that, I would say there is tension between how you have high participation levels, yet are very holistic and go deeper into a home and business.

So we need to ensure that we've balanced all of those elements and, in addition, there is a broad range of stakeholder perspectives that need to be considered, and that's obviously key to how we've looked to balance our approach.

With that, I would say that Union undertook a comprehensive approach to stakeholdering, which we've outlined at Exhibit A, tab 3, page 51, both in advance of the release of the framework and guidelines and after the framework and guidelines, prior to filing our plan.

The approvals that we are requesting in this proceeding, we've outlined those in page 2 of our application, and certainly that includes approval of our DSM budget and the associated calculation methodology for the term of the plan, the program scorecard targets, and the target adjustment methodology, as well as the approach to the incentive allocation and the methodology proposed there as well.

Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So Madam Chair, as the Panel will be aware, a great deal of evidence has been filed since Union put its evidence in, and I think it would be helpful to have just a very few moment of examination-in-chief on just a few of those points, less than five minutes.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Panel, in light of all that's been filed on avoided costs since Union's evidence was filed, I have three quick lines of questioning, and I'd also like to have you, Mr. Sloan, qualified as an expert in natural gas markets, so we'll have some very brief questioning on that.

Mr. Quigley, could you please take us through Union's avoided costs -- sorry, us through Union's avoided supply cost model and explain what role, if any, SENDOUT plays in that model?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Good morning, Panel.

The avoided supply cost model that we use to calculate the avoided supply cost is based on Union's gas supply plan, and to create the avoided supply cost model we start with the gas supply plan as the base, and we make two adjustments to the demand forecast in that gas supply plan.

The first is to create what we call a base case scenario, which takes the demands in the gas supply plan and then adds the demand impacts of the portfolio DSM programs that Union has put forward.

And then secondly, we create scenario demand forecast, which exclude the demand impacts of a particular DSM program, so for instance, space heat or water heat or industrial.

We then use the SENDOUT planning model to determine the total gas supply costs required to meet these different demand scenarios, and the difference in the supply cost between the base case and the demand scenario determines the avoided costs of that specific DSM program.

The SENDOUT model provides a monthly volumetric forecast of the supplies and demands required to meet Union's customers' demands as long -- as well, sorry, as any monthly forecast of the costs to meet those demands.

The SENDOUT model plays the same role in the avoided supply cost modelling process as it does in creating Union's gas supply plan, and that's done to ensure consistency between the avoided costs that we're calculating and our gas supply plan.

Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  And my next question is for Ms. Lynch.  How did you factor avoided costs into the DSM programs proposed in this application?

MS. LYNCH:  The avoided costs are used for screening our DSM programs to ensure they meet the cost-effectiveness guidelines outlined by the Board in the framework and guidelines.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And the next question is for you, Mr. Sloan.  You authored a report that's been filed in evidence as Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix C; is that correct?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, and has anything filed by other parties since that report was filed caused to you change your conclusions in your report, subject only to the evidence you gave at the technical conference?

MR. SLOAN:  No, it has not.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And I would ask the panel to refer to this document, which I suggest should be marked as an exhibit.  This document is the CVs of the witnesses.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Millar, can we mark that as an exhibit, please.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVS OF THE PANEL 1 WITNESSES.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have that, Mr. Sloan?

MR. SLOAN:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And as you know, we're going to ask the Panel to qualify you as an expert in natural gas markets, and in connection with that I'd ask you to turn to page 11.

MR. SLOAN:  I have that.

MR. SMITH:  Can you tell me what this document is and what it says that's relevant to your qualification as an expert in natural gas markets?

MR. SLOAN:  This is my CV.  It has a broad overview of my experience with energy markets and natural gas markets over my 32-year career as a consultant and an analyst, looking at natural gas markets, primarily.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  And my final question is for the panel as a whole.  Do you -- excuse me -- each adopt the evidence on avoided costs filed in this proceeding by Union, and could you just specify what that is in each of your cases?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I adopt the evidence related to how we utilize avoided costs in creating our DSM plan.

MR. QUIGLEY:  I adopt the evidence related to section 8 in the evidence for avoided costs.

MR. SMITH:  section 8 of...

MR. QUIGLEY:  Of the evidence.

MR. SMITH:  Of the application.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Of the application, sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Sloan?

MR. SLOAN:  And I adopt my report.

MR. SMITH:  So that concludes examination-in-chief, and at this point I would ask that Mr. Sloan be certified as an expert in natural gas markets.

MS. LONG:  Does anyone object to Mr. Sloan being qualified as an expert in natural gas markets?

Then the Board will accept him as an expert in natural gas markets.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

I understand, Mr. Poch, that you are going first?

MR. POCH:  I am, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I'm sure the Board is absolutely thrilled to be descending into the minutiae of avoided costs on the first day of a two-and-a-half-week hearing in August, so I don't want to delay matters, but during the course of the technical conference on Monday, it dawned on me that we may have -- we GEC -- may have created a lot of consternation amongst my friends by filing the numerically heavy evidence we have on avoided costs, amongst other things, and I am hoping -- well, and that consternation could lead to a lot of what I -- cross-examination and hearing time and, indeed, by way of example, in the technical conference we heard the second decimal place of the carbon content in gas factor, Mr. Chernick, he was being challenged, and there was a discussion of the interaction of the Ontario storage market with the basis DRIPE factor.

And as thrilling as that sounds, I thought it might be helpful for the Board and other parties if I could just briefly indicate what the intention was in our filing of this evidence, where we say it could lead, and in so doing I hope that that would help everyone focus on the higher-level issues before the Board, hopefully shorten things up a bit, so I would ask your permission to spend a couple of minutes just telegraphing where we're going.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, any objections to that?

MR. SMITH:  Anything that can focus this hearing is welcome to Union.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, thank you, Madam Chair.

GEC's evidence is intended to demonstrate that there are significant gaps in the utilities' analyses of rate impacts and in their avoided cost analyses, significant enough that, in our submission, they will require new rate impact analyses and a better process for avoided cost analyses, but we aren't asking the Board to actually finalize new avoided cost values in this hearing or finalize new rate impact analyses.

We hope to demonstrate that the likely scale of the various rate-reducing impacts that the utilities have not included is such that it offsets much of the DSM budget, if not more than the entire DSM budget; in other words, that there is little or no adverse rate impact on non-DSM participants.

There may, in fact, be a rate-reducing impact overall for non-participants at some point during the course of this six-year plan.  And if that is indeed the case, that concern about rate impacts should not be the proximate constraint on spending needed to fulfil the Minister's direction to the Board that the utilities pursue all cost-effective DSM.

Indeed, as I say, we expect these various impacts will ultimately more than offset DSM budgets, but as I will explain, we think the Board does not need to settle upon an exact level today, given the timing of this hearing.

And let me turn to that. It would be late in the year before a decision is issued, quite obviously.  GEC recognizes that it is quite late in the day to change anything much in the 2015 plans.  For 2016, it will be our hope in the course of this hearing to persuade the Board that Union should maintain its industrial program, and the cost impact that I'm told is around $4 million.  We'll get that clarified in the evidence, of course.

But otherwise, we weren't before you advocating for a budget ramp up in 2016, apart from that.

We recognize the fact that the utilities are already managing a significant increase in 2016.  So 2017 is the timeframe when these issues that I've spoken of, rate impacts and budget basically, that's the first -- it's the first -- that's the timeframe when these issues could begin to have a significant impact and for which we may need to consider a second significant digit, if you will, for these values.

GEC, the government -- and, we presume, the Board -- recognize the critical role that gas efficiency has to play in Ontario, if Ontario is to meet its various greenhouse gas reduction targets, the first of which is 2020.

Waiting beyond 2017 to clarify to what extent rate impacts are or aren't a real constraint to investment in cost effective DSM is, in our view, highly problematic.

The mid-term review will not be finished in time to affect 2017 plans, nor -- in all likelihood, I think we can -- I would say, is it likely to be finished and a decision issued in time to allow a well thought-out ramp up of 2018 plans, if that were the result.

We intend to demonstrate that any realistic provincial plan to meet the 2020 and subsequent goals for greenhouse gas reductions will require an increased gas efficiency effort beyond the relative plateaus that are being proposed by the utilities for the post 2016 period in their plans that they filed before you.

Now, of course, many of the effects of lower rate impacts also raise avoided costs, and would affect the screening of measures and the design and the selection of programs going forward.  That's another reason we need to move some of the way toward resolution of these questions today.  Indeed, most DSM measures which we need to decide whether to promote today or not will have a life expectancy that goes well into the 2020s or 2030s.

So, for example, carbon pricing is already a significant assumption that is being made implicitly or explicitly in avoided cost for that period.

If companies ignore it they've set it at zero.  If 15 -- the 15 percent adder is said to be what it is, there is an implicit value in that.

We intend to demonstrate that the 15 percent adder is indeed woefully inadequate in that regard, and indeed wildly out of step with the implicit carbon value in the Minister's adder for electricity CDM.  He did specify it explicitly for electricity.

And that explicit value needs to be the one utilized, in our view, and we will discuss that with the witnesses as we go forward.

That said, we don't think it is a productive use of this hearing to debate details ad infinitum.

Take the issue of what portion of Enbridge's pipeline additions should be considered avoidable by load reductions.  That's a matter that Mr. Chernick addresses in his evidence.

I don't imagine the Board relishes the thought of arbitrating whether Navigant's numbers for Enbridge or Mr. Chernick's numbers are more accurate on the various steps and details involved there, particularly so because the record is not complete, as Mr. Chernick explains in his evidence.

But we don't want that never to be subject to scrutiny, which appears to be the utility position.  We will be suggesting that these finer details of avoided costing go to a technical working group, so it can be addressed by experts in a transparent and timely fashion.

So in that sense, much of our evidence is really just evidence of the scale and scope of the debate, to the extent we could address it with the limited information in that example that Enbridge was prepared to provide.

We aren't asking the Board to predict the carbon price, or the demand induction -- induced price effect, DRIPE coefficient in this hearing in any final sense, in that -- despite the fact that those values will inform avoided costs for most of the life of the measures that are being delivered in the DSM programs today.

But we are asking the Board -- we will be asking the Board to either tell the utilities to do so before 2017 and then come back before you, or to adopt Mr. Chernick's and Mr. Neme's values, or some portion of them, as place holders which could allow the utilities to adjust their 2017 programs pending the mid-term review.  And obviously, there would need to be guidance from the Board on just how far that could go.

In that scenario, if the mid-term review isn't finished in time for implementation at the beginning of 2018, those place holders could affect both 2017 and 2018.  So in that sense, we are asking for some -- the Board to put its mind at some level to what value these rate-reducing impacts might have, at least in a placeholder -- in a conservative placeholder.

I should say, by the way, that in that example I gave at the outset of the basis DRIPE that for -- it has to do with the difference in commodity prices between supply hubs and demand hubs; we won't be even asking for a placeholder of that one.  That one is Ontario-specific.  It needs, as opposed to the continental commodity DRIPE, which we'll be speaking of and which we think is not Ontario-specific.

All we'll be advocating there is that the Minister has asked for a DRIPE study, I understand the Board is -- Staff has been charged with that obligation to fulfil, we would simply ask that that be looked at in that.  So I don't -- I am saying to people don't get too excited about what we've said by way of example there.

As I've suggested, these issues can and should be dealt with at a high level.  If you were to find, for example, that even half of the non-participants benefits estimated by our experts are a reasonable basis for planning pending further study, then measures that are marginal become cost effective and the rate impact falls from $2 to almost nothing, which could justify more than a doubling of the budget.

And as you can see, if we are even a quarter correct, the Board doesn't need to get into a second significant digit to justify further ramp-up in 2017.  And as we will argue, absent undue rate impact, the Minister's directive should govern.  And there is only so much these utilities can ramp up in a given year.  We are really talking about 2017 here, perhaps 2018 before a mid-term review could take hold.  So it is whether they should be given leeway for that period.

I hope this explanation I haven't overstepped, and will assist the Board in understanding and assist the witnesses and parties understand where we're going, and help focus the discussion on methodology, and that we don't worry too much about that second significant digit.

Thank you for this indulgence, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  I want to be very clear that to the extent that you have articulated for us what your ask is, that that is put to the witnesses on this witness panel, so that they can ask any clarifying questions, or you can have a dialogue as to what their position is on this.  And of course, I will expect the same when the Enbridge panel is put up.

MR. POCH:  Much of what I spoke of obviously pertains as much to the main panel -- for example, carbon policy, which I notice Union has allocated to that second panel -- and to the main panel of Enbridge and I'm sure those witnesses will read this transcript.  I'm sure their counsel will have questions for them.  And that's exactly the point, Madam Chair, to help focus that.

MS. LONG:  So please proceed to your questions for the panel --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry to interrupt, but Mr. Poch appears to have raised some issues that normally would be in argument, and the reason he appears to be raising them now is to propose a procedural approach to avoided cost in the proceeding.

Rather than sort of let it slide by, I think that -- I guess I'm concerned that we face it head on.

If there's going to be a procedural approach that Mr. Poch is proposing, then perhaps the Board Panel should address it directly.

It appears to us that what Mr. Poch -- what GEC's position appears to be is that the 15 percent adder is not correct, that some higher amount is appropriate, and that some components of that are in the evidence, what that number should be, but that we don't have enough evidence, and so that the Board should -- and the parties should not argue about the -- what the right number is, but only what the minimum right number is for now, something higher than 15 percent.  But we should not take hearing time to discuss whether Mr. Chernick or somebody else is correct in their analysis of the avoided cost issues.

And I guess -- generally speaking, we think that's probably a good idea, but we wouldn't want the Board to simply allow that to happen and then have parties say later, wait a second, we never talked about this.  You can't make a decision now on what the appropriate avoided costs are because procedurally you took it out of the equation.


And so I guess we're asking for the Board to be very clear on whether that's on the table or off the table, whether Mr. Poch's proposal to narrow how much we look at avoided costs is appropriate or not.

And maybe I've misunderstood Mr. Poch, but this is my understanding of what he's proposing.

MR. POCH:  Yeah, let me give my friend some comfort, Madam Chair --


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I'm wondering if I could just supplement.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I shared many of the same concerns that Mr. Shepherd has now raised, and our panels, the Enbridge panels, will be up next week, and obviously we would be delighted if many of the issues were taken off the record and we were able to focus on what we consider to be the real DSM issues, but as I heard what Mr. Poch just gave you in an opening statement was, in effect, he's acknowledging that there is not a sufficient record to make a finding in respect of many of the avoided cost assertions that they are making.  You can come and say what you want, but that's certainly what I believe I understood was where he's going, and therefore he's suggesting that, don't pay any attention to the evidence that's been filed that's on the record, and, you know, we're really looking for something else.

And the concern I have as a lawyer is that the record now has both the report of Mr. Chernick and the evidence of Chris Neme, and they say certain things, and to simply not address them would leave the record basically silent, in terms of the opposition to that.

So unless Mr. Poch is going to propose some withdrawal of some of that evidence, or that he's going to say he's not asking the Board to rely on aspects of it, then I think we're in a situation where we have to deal with it head-on.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, my only intention was to telegraph to the parties where GEC intends to go with this, and if that doesn't allow them to relax in some sense, so be it.

I'm not proposing that you take anything off the issues list.  I'm not proposing to withdraw any evidence.  I'm not proposing that -- seeking a ruling today on, you know, should we set up a technical panel for avoided cost.  I was just telegraphing what we'll be suggesting, and so in the discussion with the witnesses, they understand that, and they can address, you know, the points that we'll be trying to raise.

So I'm sorry if that set off any alarms.  I didn't mean to.  I actually hoped it would simplify things, but apparently I failed.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  I think that's clear.  Are you clear on that, Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Shepherd?  I mean, certainly nothing is coming off the table at this point, so I expect that to the extent that you need to test your theories you're going to put everything to the witnesses, and at the end of the day you can make the arguments that you want to in submissions, and I expect that the parties will respond in kind.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With our permission I'll proceed, then.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Panel, you're aware that the evidence of GEC suggests that there are benefits from DSM that reduce rates -- first of all, let me just ask that basic question.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we're aware that GEC has put evidence forward.

MR. POCH:  Right, and whatever the extent of those impacts, they may also affect avoided costs.  If you, for example, reduce infrastructure costs, that could raise avoided costs and lower rate impacts; are we on the same page on that too?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And can we agree that when we reduce rates, that means for all ratepayers, in particular including those who are not participating in DSM?

MR. SLOAN:  As long as you are looking at all the factors that both increase rates and decrease rates, I would agree with that.

MR. POCH:  Of course.  Now, before we consider the particular extent of any impact, let's just discuss the types of impacts that may affect both avoided costs and rates, in particular rates for non-participants.

Would -- I gave my example, but let's get it clear on the record.  Would one of those effects be the avoidance or deferral of T&D infrastructure investment?  Mr. Sloan, I have a hunch this is for you.

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, that is one of the components of both avoided costs and rate impacts.

MR. POCH:  All right.  All right.  And that could occur on the distribution system or upstream?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And would another be that if there was any price reduction in gas due to reducing demand, this DRIPE effect, if the commodity price is affected even by a tiny amount, everybody who is buying gas gets to see some benefit?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And assuming, if you will, that carbon costs -- costs of carbon compliance are internalized into the price of gas or alternatively that the gas distribution sector can sell unused carbon allowances, cap and trade compliance costs can also be avoidable for all ratepayers.

MR. SLOAN:  If we are talking about the total resource cost, yes.  If we are talking about the rate impacts, that's not so clear.

MR. POCH:  Well, if my -- the -- if the cap -- sorry, the preamble of that question was:  Assuming those costs are internalized -- in other words, assuming the utility has to pay for carbon allowances or can obtain revenue for selling them.

MR. SLOAN:  I understand.  I --


MR. POCH:  Why would that not affect rates?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, because your costs, when those types of costs are internalized, the costs go up, the rates go up.  When you avoid those costs, you are -- the customer that is paying or buying less gas will then be paying less for the carbon allowances.  And it is a net neutral when it comes to rates for non-participants.

So in terms of an avoided cost, yes, it's definitely a component.  Both the costs go up and the savings go up associated with the programs, but for rates it's not so clear.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Does it make sense to you that if the Board is concerned about cost-effectiveness of DSM and about the rate impacts from DSM on non-participants that we should take into account both the DSM spending that increases costs and rates and the effects of DSM that reduce costs and rates?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, I think that the effect of DSM that reduces costs are included in the total resource cost test and are appropriately there.  If they do, in fact, reduce rates, then it may be appropriate to consider them, but you have to make sure that you are actually reducing rates to the non-participants.

MR. POCH:  All right, let's turn to some specific -- let's start with distribution infrastructure avoidance.

In your presentation -- or rather your examination-in-chief, you said nothing so far has changed any of your recommendations.  Can you just turn up -- Madam Chair, we have provided a compendium of material.  I think almost all of it is already on the record except one or two pages, which I provided to my friend a couple of days ago.  I'm wondering if that could have an exhibit number.

MS. LONG:  Yes, let's mark that.

MR. MILLAR:  It's K1.2, the cross-examination compendium of GEC for Union panel 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF GEC FOR UNION PANEL 1.

MR. POCH:  Would you turn to page 6 of that compendium?  At line 13 there, I want to -- Ms. Lynch, I think this would be a document you were primarily responsible.

You recite the high-level conclusions of ICF, Mr. Sloan's firm, and one of those conclusions is that Union needs to account for avoided, deferred, or delayed infrastructure T&D costs.

First of all, I haven't misstated the read here, Ms. Lynch?

MS. LYNCH:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Sloan, that was one of your conclusions.  They hadn't included T&D costs and avoided costs, and you've asked them to attend to that and that's where they've come up with the 2 percent adder.

But at the point of your review, that was your conclusion and that hasn't changed?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. SLOAN:  Well, I should say that they addressed it with the 2 percent after my recommendation.

MR. POCH:  Right, and you haven't had an opportunity to dig into the details of Enbridge's T&D and see if it's reasonable, or see if Union's adaptation of it is reasonable, I take it?

MR. SLOAN:  I have not looked at the Enbridge study.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, indeed as we're all aware, avoided costs can be a very detailed matter.  And in this case, as I've just mentioned, Union is relying on Enbridge's analysis for part of that effort and particularly this part, the distribution infrastructure portion of avoided costs, correct?

MR. SLOAN:  If you're asking me or, are you asking --


MR. POCH:  I think that's for Ms. Lynch.

MS. LYNCH:  That is correct.  We have identified that we would use it as a proxy.

MR. POCH:  Okay, and that led you to -- you took some values from Enbridge, and you derived a value to use in your avoided costs that's expressed as an adder of 2 percent on top of your commodity avoided costs, correct?

MS. LYNCH:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  I'm not going to ask you to defend Enbridge's analysis.  But I take it you are aware that Mr. Chernick has expressed concern that there are a number of problems, or potential problems in Enbridge's derivation of the costs?

MS. LYNCH:  I am aware of Mr. Chernick's evidence.

MR. POCH:  All right, and I just want to look at the scale of that debate and the possible implications, depending how it comes out.

In Exhibit K1.2 of the cross materials, if -- we have reproduced part of Mr. Chernick's report there, starting at numbered page 1 and overleaf, and I think the first Q and A there simply recites what we just stated.

Mr. Chernick goes on and discusses three matters which, if I can paraphrase, are how you translated Enbridge's numbers; and then secondly, what the impact of his corrections that he's proposing for Enbridge's numbers would have for you; and third, he touches on the much earlier work that was done for Union on avoided costs, and what that would tell us about these values.

And we learned in the technical conference -- Mr. Sloan, I think you can confirm this -- as it happens, Mr. Sloan was involved in that study way back, I think, in 1997.  Is that correct, Mr. Sloan?

MR. SLOAN:  It's nice to be -- find my 15-year-old work to be of interest.

MR. POCH:  You have a legacy.  So let's deal with those one at a time.  First, your adaptation of Enbridge's adders; am I correct that Union took Enbridge's -- I think, two or three values for the different kinds of load shapes, that -- this is for the adder for distribution infrastructure avoidance to avoid costs, and you then weighted those by the relative size of your different customer groups which are, in effect, load types, and you time one a single adder that you then used for all load shapes and that's the 2 percent.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's correct.  We identified again that we would use that as a proxy, and we also identified the calculation as you're noting in Exhibit B, topic 9, Union, GEC 17.

MR. POCH:  Let me be clear.  Did you do a different weighting for each year going forward, or the 2 percent is held constant?

MS. LYNCH:  It's held constant.

MR. POCH:  If you look at page 4 of our -- I apologize, the reference was removed in the printing, but this is from Exhibit B, T9, Union.GEC.17, attachment 1.

And that's the document you just referred to; is that correct, Ms. Lynch?

MS. LYNCH:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  It's a little difficult to read.  I apologize; it's small.

You took the Enbridge's numbers -- Enbridge's values were a 4.3 percent adder for space heating type loads, a 1.3 percent adder for water heating and base load, like industrial process; have I got that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And then at the bottom, we have your value of 2 percent there in the have bottom box.  So in coming to the 2 percent, am I correct that -- this is the second line from the bottom, you weighted these different values based on the submit split in your industrial versus other loads -- rather industrial versus other DSM type measures according to the split that occurred in your 213 post-audit net gas TRC benefit analysis?

MS. LYNCH:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  And just looking at the numbers there, at that time industrial gas, net TRC, the benefits from the DSM aimed at that market were roughly 85 percent of your total TRC in that year.  That's the -- just the 331 million over the 388 million.

MS. LYNCH:  That looks approximately right.

MR. POCH:  Again, nothing turns on the second significant digit.


Now, are you projecting that the DSM aimed at industrial process load will be 85 percent of the TRC benefits throughout the 2016 to 2020 period, since you're proposing not to -- no longer have an incentive program for industrial DSM, for large volume customers?

MS. LYNCH:  No, we're not.  Again, this was a proxy estimation that we used for purposes of including it in our filing.

MR. POCH:  Right.  You in fact used different avoided supply costs for the three load shapes, space heating, residential commercial baseload, and industrial, do you not?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And Enbridge estimated different dollars per cubic metre and percent adders for different load shapes.  So why didn't you just maintain different adders for the different load shapes, and change them as the composition of your DSM program shifts in time?

MS. LYNCH:  It certainly something we could have done.  Again, just as a proxy, we simplified it to a percentage adder.

MR. POCH:  So you would agree that using an average is less accurate than using the individual numbers?

MS. LYNCH:  To the extent that your average may change over time, or your distribution may change over time.

MR. POCH:  And you've just agreed with me moment ago that it is changing significantly, if I can add that modifier.

Given that you're backing away from industrial DSM, wouldn't the adder shift more towards the 4.3 percent number and away from the 1.8 percent number that Enbridge has offered -- 1.3, I'm sorry.  Directionally, that would be correct?

MS. LYNCH:  Directionally, although we would still want to look at the relative balance between what is base load through water heating and space heating.

MR. POCH:  I guess -- isn't that the whole point I'm trying to get at, that if you apply the different adders to the different load shapes, then you will automatically get that result and you won't have to -- as opposed to taking an average number for six years, and embedding it now?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, although I will point out that, as we've said in our evidence, one of the pieces of work that we will be doing is our DSM and infrastructure study.  We've identified that out of that we will expect to see some guidance on what is appropriate way of doing a calculation for our T&D impact, so at the time when that would be known we'd expect to adopt any guidance that we get at that point.

MR. POCH:  Okay, and I guess the question is what process did you have in mind for adjusting your year 3 program mix and budget, based on changes to avoided costs?  Are you proposing any process?  Or are you proposing that you've come up with a program and you want this Board to bless it for six years?

MS. LYNCH:  Certainly to the extent that we see a significant change, we would consider it, but if I look at the avoided costs that we're using in this plan and the budget guidance that we have adhered to, then we wouldn't see that necessarily having a significant change on the mix of programs we proposed.

MR. POCH:  Let me give you an opportunity to comment on the suggestion I made in opening of inclusion of -- perhaps let's -- let me put a straw man out there -- a couple of avoided-cost experts appointed by the intervenors collectively to work with you and Enbridge and Board Staff to refine your avoided costs, your distribution and transmission cost methodologies for purposes of avoided costs and rate impact analysis.

Does that strike you as a manageable way to move forward?

MS. LYNCH:  I'd say within this proceeding we are looking for approval of the -- of methodology that we have outlined that we've been using since 2006-2007.  To the extent that there are key pieces of information that become available, we would expect to adopt those at that time.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  All right.  Let's leave that for a moment.  We'll come back to that.

Mr. Chernick goes on, as I said, in the next discussion to talk about what the impact would be of the corrections he's estimated for Enbridge's avoided cost, what they would do to your 2 percent.

He says correcting the errors and understatements in Enbridge's avoided distribution estimates would produce an even larger average adder on the order of 12 to 20 percent.  I assume that is for the space heating load rather than your 2 percent, so let me just ask this simple question:  Would you agree that resolving those issues with Enbridge's values could have a significant impact on your avoided costs for so long as you continue to rely on Enbridge's work?

MS. LYNCH:  I would agree that if there is a change identified, that we would want to take that into consideration.

MR. POCH:  You may have agreed to this already, but avoiding the need for a new pipeline investment is a benefit shared by all customers, not just DSM participants, so the resolution of these issues could have a large impact on your rate impact analysis too; would you agree?

MS. LYNCH:  It certainly could have an impact on what we see as the overall benefits in our TRC calculation.  Again, it would come back to what ultimately is the budget guidance in that that we're looking to achieve -- adhere to.

MR. POCH:  Well, the budget guidance, as we'll get to with the next panel, was based on the Board's, in the case of residential, $2 per month indication of what it considers to be not undue.

And I'm just asking if we have any kind of significant change in your understanding of what the avoided hardware costs are, T&D, that would affect that analysis of where you are relative to the $2; correct?  As all customers would benefit from avoiding those costs of DSM, due to DSM?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. LYNCH:  It really depends on how the $2 rate impact is defined.  If it's defined as -- we've said as $2 on average on a residential bill every month, then that would be something we would need to consider.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Chernick goes on to just canvass the numbers that came out of the much earlier study that Mr. Sloan was involved in.  And for the record -- you don't need to turn this up, but just for the record of those following this, this was discussed at page 50 of the transcript on the technical conference -- the second day of the technical conference.

That study, Mr. Sloan, I'm sure you can confirm, that study found that the T&D portion of Union and Centra's avoided cost was 28 and 37 percent -- I think I've got it backwards.  Maybe it was 37 and 28 percent respectively.  It doesn't really matter.  Those are the two numbers for the two different regions.

And I think, just to be fair, you pointed out at the time that that would have included avoidable upstream transportation savings, as well as distribution level savings; correct?

MR. SLOAN:  As far as you've gone, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.

MR. SLOAN:  You do need to look at the entire study and take into account some of the caveats that are included in the study when you're using that number.  And as an example, there is a two- or three-paragraph discussion stating that, based on the methodology that we used, we expected that there was a significant upward bias to the numbers that we had estimated because of the way -- we didn't get into a great deal of detail in terms of assessing individual expansion programs and projects, and many of the costs that we rolled into that number actually would not be avoidable, but at the time we looked at rather -- we wanted to underestimate or overestimate, and we determined that these numbers would be an overestimate.

MR. POCH:  That's fine.  Now, you also -- another caveat you've added is -- at the technical conference you added was that due to the shift of supply from -- away from western Canadian gas and towards American fracking gas, which is closer, there would be a reduction in the upstream transportation costs.

Let me just make clear, that change would affect the upstream transportation costs, not the downstream, the distribution level costs; correct?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, Union's system is a little unique.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.

MR. SLOAN:  So, you know, you are asking a complicated question, but in general I'll agree with that.

MR. POCH:  In the main, yes.  Okay.

Can you give me a sense of what the split was in those values between upstream and downstream?  No need for a second significant digit here.

MR. SLOAN:  Well, actually, I can't.  That was 15 years ago, and I wasn't able to go back and pull up all of the calculations, but I'll agree that a significant share of those would have been within the Union system.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And would you agree that -- I don't know what you consider significant, but there would be a -- there was significant portion that was upstream avoidable and that is -- our understanding is, is now Union attempts to capture that as part of its commodity avoided costs; correct?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And does that remain a significant avoided cost?  I'm not suggesting it hasn't been captured, I'm just -- that remains a significant value as well, even with the shift in -- even with the shift to --


MR. SLOAN:  Well, sure, upstream transportation costs are an important consideration when you're looking at the delivered commodity costs to the city gate.  But you have to look at what's avoidable, and what's at the margin.  So just simply saying that you have more or less capacity cost doesn't necessarily affect the avoided cost.

MR. POCH:  I appreciate it's not a simple analysis.  At the time, though, you were treating those numbers with the caveat you've given.  Those numbers, 28 and 37 percent, that was all what you called avoidable, the avoidable portion.  Otherwise, it wouldn't have been an avoided cost.

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  Can you hazard a guess for us, or an informed guess -- an informed estimate, I should say, of what proportion of Union's avoided costs are avoidable upstream transportation at this point?

MR. SLOAN:  Well the upstream transportation costs -- and let's make sure I understand what you're asking about.

Union holds capacity on a number of pipelines into Dawn, and I think what you're asking about is if you could reduce capacity holding on, for example, Vector or ANR, or another pipeline that feeds into Dawn, that those costs should be considered in the avoided costs, if those are in fact avoidable.

MR. POCH:  Yes, if you could release them, if somehow sell those rights, what have you.  Or simply as they expire during the course of -- you know, we've got measures going up 30 years, and some of these contracts could expire that you would not renew, presumably.  Is that a fair comment?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, that's fair.  I think you have to look at what's happening in the market and what's going to happen, both with and without the DSM programs, when you're assessing the pipeline capacity.  So, you know, it's not a simple matter to say, well, we'll avoid some of the ANR capacity because of changes in the market over time.

You have to look at the overall impact on the supply portfolio.

MR. POCH:  I'm the first too agree with you; this is arcane stuff.  I just wanted to get, you know, a scale value for you.  Union has provided avoided costs, and you've had a chance to look at them.

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  You must have come to some conclusion of how much in there of upstream transportation was treated as avoidable, and --


MR. SLOAN:  Let me take a shot at answering your question, and we'll see if we can get there with that.

Right now, the avoided commodity cost that is being calculated by the SENDOUT model, for at least the main part of Union's system, is avoided city gate purchases at Dawn.

And if you, instead of avoiding the city gate purchases at Dawn, chose to avoid pipeline capacity because potentially it was overall higher cost, what happens is you're trading off a reduction in capacity payments for an increase in commodity payments, because generally, when you have the pipeline capacity, you're buying upstream gas at lower prices than what you are buying at the city gate.

So a supply portfolio, a balanced supply portfolio is buying low-priced gas and paying sometimes significant amounts of transportation costs, in order to get it to the city gate.

Now when you're buying at the city gate, when you're determining that that's the avoided cost, you are already incorporating a significant chunk of the value of the upstream pipeline capacity in that calculation, in that value.

It's not exact, but the price at Dawn is set by the value of the transportation between the supply points and the city gate.

So the value of the city gate gas is certainly not an exact proxy for a combination of a reduction in pipeline capacity, and then a reduction in commodity cost purchases associated with that, leading to higher commodity cost purchases.

MR. POCH:  You can't simply compare the Henry Hub price to the Dawn price, and say the difference is all avoidable transportation.  That's what you're saying, right?

MR. SLOAN:  That's true.

MR. POCH:  I think what you've said -- correct me if I'm wrong -- is that there's a lot of avoidable -- potentially, some of that is avoidable and some of it's not, but it is a significant value that's avoidable and it is, in effect, built into avoided cost model, your SENDOUT runs, because it is included in the city gate commodity values?

MR. SLOAN:  To simplify, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right, that's fine.  And I'm asking you to hazard an estimate for us of, you know, what proportion of those commodity costs is attributable to the avoidable transportation to that city gate.

MR. SLOAN:  If you are asking me what's avoidable, what would be included in the avoided cost?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. SLOAN:  I think the city gate is a reasonable proxy for that, long-term.  And it is hard to say if would be higher than that or lower than that.

MR. POCH:  No, I think maybe we're passing ships here.

I'm asking you -- the city gate would be a reasonable proxy of what's avoided commodity gas costs including transportation, I think you've just said, correct?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And I'm asking you, of that value, if it's a dollar, how much of that is avoidable transportation -- transmission charges and how much of it is pure commodity?

Is it -- is it roughly a quarter of it transportation or is it half, you know?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, it is certainly -- well, it changes with the gas prices going up and down.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. SLOAN:  But probably less than a quarter.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And right now it would presumably be more, because gas prices are low?

MR. SLOAN:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  It might be a half today, but it might be a quarter --


MR. SLOAN:  Oh, no, no.  It might be a quarter right now, if we look at the Dawn price versus the Henry price and the Echo price --


MR. POCH:  And that quarter is captured from your avoidable cost as the utility has done -- they've captured that in their avoided commodity costs.

MR. SLOAN:  The way that they're doing it right now, there's a reasonable proxy for that.

MR. POCH:  Okay, that's fine.  Ms. Lynch, Union's planning to save roughly about 75 million per cubic metres for each year or thereabouts in your -- through the period, annual savings on average?

MS. LYNCH:  Approximately -- approximate annual savings from 2016 to 2020.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  And that number is in the ballpark?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I know it moves around a bit, but --


MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  And you assume an average life measures about 16 years; is that correct?

MS. LYNCH:  It's in the range.  It certainly varies by measure and market.

MR. POCH:  On average, 16 wouldn't be a bad number to use?

MS. LYNCH:  It would be a reasonable estimation.

MR. POCH:  If you turn up page 5 of our materials, this is Union B.28.GEC.44, Excel attachment 1, have I interpreted this correctly?  The row we have highlighted there is avoided costs for different types of load with a 16-year measure life?

Have I got that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Could you repeat the question, Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  At the highlighted row there are the avoided cost values, or the net present value or the avoided cost values, for a measure in each of those -- the various load shapes for a measure that has a 16-year life expectancy.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, for each cubic metre.

MR. POCH:  Right.  For each cubic metre, yes, and that's an annual value.  No, I'm sorry.  Present value.  My mistake.

So we've just done a little math at the bottom of the page there.  If you take the 75 million in annual savings you're talking about and multiply it -- we just did $3 as a rough approximation of those various numbers that are highlighted -- you get around 225 million, roughly.  That would be the -- am I correct that that would be an estimation of the benefits from one year of your program, TRC benefits?  Obviously there are costs too.  Or is it three times 75?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, if -- so, let's make sure we understand.  If distribution avoidable costs are estimated by you at 2 percent of your total avoided costs, then the value in your savings attributable to distribution-level avoidable costs is around -- just under 5 million, 4-and-a-half million; correct?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, at 2 percent.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Mr. Chernick's 12 percent number is right.  We figured it's 27 million.  If his 20 percent number is right it's 45 million.  It is just math, straight -- it is that simple; correct?

MS. LYNCH:  Certainly to the extent that you increase the percentage --


MR. POCH:  Right.

MS. LYNCH:  -- you would increase the...

MR. POCH:  Right, and you're planning on an annual spend of roughly 60 million a year?

MS. LYNCH:  Roughly that's the budget that we've identified for 2020.

MR. POCH:  So if we look at these various numbers, these would be the benefits that would be enjoyed by ratepayers, be they shared amongst ratepayers, be they participants or non-participants in DSM, attributable to distribution-level infrastructure avoidance from a yearly program from that $60 million spend.

And it's either, you know, 4-and-a-half million or, you know, maybe 45 million, depending on whose numbers you like, but my description is correct?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. LYNCH:  That would be the overall benefits that would be attributable to that element.

MR. POCH:  To that element of avoided costs.  Okay.

And then I was speaking with Mr. Sloan earlier about the upstream transmission savings that are avoidable, and he just told me that it might be 25 percent of the avoided costs is a rough approximation.  I agree we're -- again, let's not worry about the second significant digit here --so 25 percent is going to be more like about $55 million attributable to that element of avoided costs.  Again, just the straight math, 25 percent of your avoidable costs.  You don't have trouble with my math, do you?

MR. SLOAN:  I just want to make sure I know where you're taking your math.  If we're talking about total resource cost test, then that would be accurate.  If you are talking about the rate impact test, it would not be.

MR. POCH:  Why is that?

MR. SLOAN:  Because that's simply a pass-through.  That doesn't affect the rates that people will pay.

MR. POCH:  For your residential customers --


MR. SLOAN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. POCH:  -- they pay that in their -- you're saying in their commodity costs?

MR. SLOAN:  It's rolled into the total cost, and if you are reducing the total need for that capacity so that you are holding less, you are also reducing the volumes over which it's recovered in rates.  And the two should be, if the rate structure is done correctly, should be very, very similar, so you are -- they are going both going up and down --


MR. POCH:  You are referring to what we refer to as "lost revenues"; correct?

MR. SLOAN:  I don't know how you use the term "lost revenues".

MR. POCH:  Anybody who reduces load --


MR. SLOAN:  Well --


MR. POCH:  -- leaves more in the fixed costs for all the other customers.

MR. SLOAN:  No, this has nothing to do with the fixed cost being recovered by all the remaining.  This is simply, if you need less demand charge for pipelines, then you pay -- there's less total cost, but the cost per unit of demand, it stays the same, because it's roughly a pass-through, so in terms of total resource cost, it absolutely is relevant and should be included in the avoided cost, but in terms of rate impacts there really won't be much.

MR. POCH:  Okay, we'll come back to that too.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch, we are going to break soon --


MR. POCH:  Sure.

MS. LONG:  -- so pick a convenient spot in the next --


MR. POCH:  This is a fine moment, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  -- five minutes.  Is that fine?  We're going to break, and we'll be back at 11:25.  Thank you.
--- Recess at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Sloan, earlier you said that Union is kind of a special case, and you're referring to the fact that it has what I guess we could call local transmission.  That's what you were referring to, I think, and I wanted to ask you a little about that.

The costs of local transmission, Dawn to onwards that Union owns, those are recouped in distribution rates; am I correct?

MR. SLOAN:  I would let one of my Union colleagues comment on that particular question.

MR. QUIGLEY:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And they're part of the volumetric part of the bill, or part of the fixed charges?

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, in our view, this line of questioning is best directed to the next panel, Mr. Tetreault in particular.

MR. POCH:  Where do they show up in avoidable costs?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, they would show up in the T&D component of the TRC test, as we've -- I've discussed in my evidence.

MR. POCH:  I guess the question is do they show up in the T part or the D part, because you've imported the D part from Enbridge, right?

MS. LYNCH:  I would just reiterate, Mr. Poch, as we said this morning, that is something that we are intending to study to determine what are the appropriate T&D elements to consider.

MR. POCH:  Just to be clear on that point, Enbridge, of course -- it would be clear for Enbridge.  That would be part of their transmission commodity costs, because they don't own that transmission.  So it wouldn't be included in their distribution avoided costs?

MR. SLOAN:  The portion of the Dawn-Parkway system that Enbridge contracts for would be upstream of their T&D system.  Within their T&D system, they have similar types of -- I mean, this is not exactly analogous, but, you know, major parts to their system, as well.

MR. POCH:  I understand, okay.  I think you may have answered this already, but the SENDOUT runs, do they include the costs of this portion of Union's system?

MR. QUIGLEY:  No, the SENDOUT model doesn't model the transmission or distribution system for Union.

MR. POCH:  So then, your commodity avoided costs that you use for your avoided costs which are based on the difference in the SENDOUT runs wouldn't capture any avoidance of those costs, if you are able to allocate those costs to wholesale customers, for example?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  That being a case, I thought we could, just to get a sense of that and how big an issue that is, how big of an amount that is, apparently it's sort of in the crack between your commodity and transmission costs.

You know, things get picked up as tolls in the commodity runs, and in the distribution value you've borrowed from Enbridge, and there's this little gap, and I just want to see how little or big it is.

Could you turn in our book to page 7 and, Mr. Sloan, you might recognize it and we can certainly recognize the vintage by that type face.  This is from your much earlier study, and I will grant you everything now everything you now say about this comes with the caveat that it's pretty dated.

But I just looked at this, and just to try to understand, because you do -- you do give us some of these values in it, and you refer to that you actually did an analysis of what's going to be added or is avoidable on that part of the system.

And the language here speaks of the Trafalgar system.  That be one component of this Union transmission; correct?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  And just to get a sense of the scale, we have reproduced a couple of the pages, the one for Union and one for Centra -- this is on pages 9 and 10 of our booklet -- which give us a sense of what the scale at that time was in your analysis.

And as you see on table A-8 there on page 9 of our booklet, the avoided facilities cost for weather-sensitive load were $4.34 per cubic metre -- this is in 1997 dollars -- designed day load, and for base load it was 58 cents.  Do you see that?

MR. SLOAN:  I do, yes.

MR. POCH:  And the comparable numbers for Centra were -- all loads were just lumped together, and it was $20.69 per cubic metre designed day load.

MR. SLOAN:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  That was in 1997 dollars, so presumably -- I'm told that to bring that up to 2015 dollars, we'd have to add, ballpark, about 40 percent.  Does that sound about right?

MR. SLOAN:  I think Union facilities would have an exact number, but I'll accept that there is some inflation there.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, to my eye, those numbers -- which are just this part that's not in the difference between the SENDOUT runs, and it's not included in the distribution-avoided cost that Enbridge is giving us -- just those numbers are, or at least they were back then, much greater than the 2 percent that's been attributed to distribution.  Does that sound right to you?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, they are greater than the 2 percent.

MR. POCH:  Can you, by way of undertaking, just develop that number for us, and tell us what it would be as a percent adder if those 1997 values expressed in 2015 dollars were to be expressed that way?

I assume that would have to be an undertaking.  You're waiting for advice from counsel here, I think.

MR. SLOAN:  We're talking an undertaking, so yes.

MR. SMITH:  On a best efforts basis, we'll give that undertaking.

MR. MILLYARD:  It is J1.2.  Mr. Poch, could you repeat what the undertaking is?

MR. POCH:  To take the values in the 1997 ICF study for avoidance of what we'll call local transmission, express it in 2015 dollars, and express those values as a percent of Union's commodity avoided costs.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  UNION TO TAKE THE VALUES IN THE 1997 ICF STUDY FOR AVOIDANCE OF WHAT WE'LL CALL LOCAL TRANSMISSION, EXPRESS IT IN 2015 DOLLARS, AND EXPRESS THOSE VALUES AS A PERCENT OF UNION'S COMMODITY AVOIDED COSTS

MR. SLOAN:  So it is an arithmetic exercise.  You are not asking me to estimate what these values would be today?

MR. POCH:  No, I assume you haven't studied what they are today.

MR. SLOAN:  I have not.

MR. POCH:  Right, that's fair.  And that's why -- this was the only number available to us, and I assumed that was the case.  It's an arithmetic exercise that I dare not do.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poch, what inflation factor are you asking him to use?

MR. POCH:  Whatever the -- I think the real inflation -- well, I know there are various debates about what index to use for such inflation.  I would leave up to you to –

MS. LONG:  Are you leaving that up to him to determine?

MR. POCH:  Yes, with an appropriate inflater for that portion of our economy or just the CP, the cost of living inflater, if that's easier, I assume.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mark Kitchen on behalf of Union Gas.  I think probably the best thing for us to do would be to look at how our rates have changed since 1997, as opposed to necessarily inflation, because I don't think inflation will be a good indicator.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  I was just trying to get the dollars into 2015 dollars.

MS. LONG:  Isn't that more accurate, though, to look at the rates?

MR. POCH:  At rates?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, our rates -- our rates, even if you look over the last term of the IRM, did not increase by inflation.

MR. POCH:  That -- I understand that, but your rates are made up of many things, including -- I'm trying to just get the equivalent dollars that were avoided --


MR. KITCHEN:  I think if we used a pure inflation rate, even if you just say that -- if let's go back -- let's just look at our IRM, right?  Our IRM rates don't increase by inflation, they are adjusted by productivity, and it's been that way for a number of years, so our rates aren't increasing by inflation.


MR. POCH:  Perhaps I can just ask if there's two -- just use a general inflater and use the rate inflater.  Then we can see what the difference is; so that would be helpful?


MR. KITCHEN:  We can do that, but we will put caveats around it.


MR. POCH:  Sure, of course you can.  Thank you, thank you, Madam Chair.


So going forward, were your avoided costs attempt to capture this component that isn't presently captured?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, as I've indicated, our intention is to study and then determine what appropriate costs should be included.


MR. POCH:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I may, just a quick question -- apologies for interrupting.  We had a question about the undertaking number.


MR. POCH:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  If I misidentified it, it should be J1.1.  If I said 1.2, I apologize.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  J1.1.  Thank you.  POCH:  Okay.  Another element that can affect rates and -- but -- and I want to just confirm my understanding of this -- it's in your -- it's captured in your avoided costs already, but it would affect rates, and that is the difference between marginal gas costs that can be avoided and average gas costs that all customers pay, that -- when I say "rates", if you can -- DSM, I think you're -- correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Sloan.  You may know the answer to this.  We've looked at your avoided costs, Mr. Chernick looked at your avoided costs.  They are higher for certain things than the average, so we took from that that you've taken account of that fact, that when you -- your SENDOUT model has taken account of that fact, that it lays off the most expensive stuff that is available to be laid off when it decrements for DSM.  Mr. Quigley?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That's true, we back off city gate purchases at Dawn.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So when you -- when you're -- so you -- by laying off the more expensive stuff due to DSM, you can then lower your average gas cost, which is the gas cost that all your customers pay as adjusted quarterly through the mechanisms that the Board has.


MR. QUIGLEY:  Conceptually, yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Well, is there anything wrong with that statement?


MR. QUIGLEY:  No.


MR. SLOAN:  I'll just expound on his concerns there, which is that when you are looking at a long-term supply portfolio you're looking at a whole series of different pieces and different sources of supply, and all of them are important to the supply portfolio, so buying at the city gate is always going to be -- at least according to the current supply strategy that Union uses -- an important part of the portfolio.


So you can't get rid of just the Dawn purchases.  If you have a fundamental change in the volumes over time, the whole portfolio is going to shift up and down just a little bit.  And what that means is that that average is shifting as well over time, and so in one year, by reducing the city gate purchases, you are lowering the average, but as you're reducing the overall load over time, that the whole portfolio is going to adapt, and it will be closer back to the average.


MR. POCH:  That's exactly what your SENDOUT model models; right?  It goes out however many years.  If we are looking at a 16-year measure life, it goes out 16 years, takes account of what's on the margin for those -- in each of those 16 years, probably each month of those 16 years?


MR. QUIGLEY:  No, it only goes out three years.


MR. POCH:  Oh, only goes out three years.  All right.


MR. QUIGLEY:  In this case, to 2017.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay.  With that caveat, though, I think the theory is agreed upon.


Would the same not be true of some of your upstream transportation costs, that if the utility's behaving rationally it's going to try to lay off the more expensive ones to the extent that its various commitments allow it to.


MR. QUIGLEY:  Over time, yes.


MR. POCH:  Yes, and so over time, the same is true, it will lower the average combined commodity costs that all ratepayers pay, because you've laid off the marginal, more expensive stuff.


MR. QUIGLEY:  The -- I guess a little bit where I struggle is that the gas supply plan that we're using and the gas that we buy is already taking -- is already based on the post-DSM impacts of demand, so if we artificially increase the demand forecast by the DSM demands and then rerun it, yes, from the base case to the -- to whatever decrement, DSM decrement, then, yes, you would see a difference between the -- but as far as the impact on the actual ratepayer, I can't -- because we're not buying the gas based on the base case.


MR. POCH:  You don't have -- in other words, you have to model this.  You don't have the real numbers.  That's what that SENDOUT model does for commodity and...


MR. QUIGLEY:  Right.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  That's fine.


MR. SLOAN:  And again, I'd make the point that you are absolutely correct in year one, that that's what happens, but the utility will rebalance the over-supply -- the overall portfolio when the load goes down to the extent that it can.  And actually, what happens when the load goes down sometimes is you are unable to lay off pipeline capacity and so your costs or your rates go up.  Again, that is just a short-term phenomenon, but it is something to keep in mind.


But in the long-term, when the overall demand goes down, the makeup of the supply portfolio is going to move back towards equilibrium, and roughly the same percentage of all the different supply sources would be adjusted, and so you would move back up towards -- closer to the average.


MR. POCH:  You're going to optimize.


MR. SLOAN:  You're going to optimize.


MR. POCH:  You're going to optimize.


MR. SLOAN:  Well, actually, you're not optimizing by cost, you are optimizing by cost and security and diversity and --


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.


MR. SLOAN:  -- a variety of other components that go into the supply plan.


MR. POCH:  You are saying it's not linear because there's all these other factors at play.


MR. SLOAN:  It is definitely not linear.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  That's fine.


Now, I'm going to move on then to supply-level price effects, or what we call DRIPE, demand reduced -- reduction induced price effects.


And just to give it some context, in page 11 of our materials I've reproduced what Mr. Sloan's firm -- how Mr. Sloan's firm describes that, and Mr. Sloan, I just want to make sure you are not resiling from this description where you say:

"Reduction in the quantity of gas used in one region will reduce the overall demand for gas and therefore reduce the market price for gas in all regions supplied by the same natural gas producers.  DRIPE will have little impact on the market price of energy, but very small impacts on market prices can result in large absolute dollar amounts when applied to all energy being purchased in the market."

Still an accurate description?


MR. SLOAN:  Well, that's certainly an accurate description of DRIPE.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And --


MR. SLOAN:  Who came up with that, I don't know who came up with that.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.


MR. SLOAN:  And I'll say that I agree with that description as well.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.


And so that -- this is an example where if we're able to -- if there is any kind of DRIPE effect, it's -- it's enjoyed by all customers.


MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Yeah, okay.  Now the Minister has in his letter -- which I've attached, starting at page 12 -- has asked for a DRIPE to be looked at, and this is the bottom paragraph on the first page of his letter.

And he asks that -- he notes the potential study; he's asked for it for June 1, 2016.  And after that he says -- he asks -- he'd like to see how potential DSM benefits as carbon reduction and natural gas price suppression, which I assume is another way of saying DRIPE, may be used to inform both programs and budgets.

Do you see that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I see that.

MR. POCH:  And that study, I assume, is already underway.  Are you involved in that study in any way, or is that being conducted by Board Staff without your involvement?

MS. LYNCH:  I'm not aware of a specific DRIPE study.

MR. POCH:  Well, okay, the conservation potential study.

MS. LYNCH:  Right, yes.

MR. POCH:  You are involved in that?

MS. LYNCH:  We are aware -- we are involved in that.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So if we're to respect the Minister's desires, he'd like to see how DRIPE plays into that.

Do you have any DRIPE numbers that you're proposing to inject into that analysis?  Can you give us any numbers other than the ones that -- well, do you have any?  Have you proposed any, or proposed a mechanism to find any, or?


MS. LYNCH:  No, as we have indicated, we do not have a DRIPE estimate.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Mr. Chernick took -- in his evidence, he derived a DRIPE value from the different runs of the annual energy outlook of the US Energy Information Administration.  And then Mr. Neme took that and used it to calculate the savings value, a savings value of just over 6 million for each utility, which would offset about 9 percent of Enbridge's DSM budget and 11 percent of Union's.

So, leaving aside Mr. Chernick's derivation of his coefficient, which I'm sure is subject to all kinds of methodological debate, have you had a chance just to look at that translation of that value to the -- what it means in terms of budget impacts?  Just that math that Mr. Neme did, in effect.

MR. SLOAN:  I'm sorry, the question is budget impacts on --


MR. POCH:  Not budget impacts; I'm sorry, the rate impact.  How much of the budget would -- he's expressed it is a percent of the budget that this rate impact could offset.  And just Mr. Neme's part of that effort, I wanted to know if you've had a chance to look at that, since I assume that -- apart from Ms. Lynch.

MS. LYNCH:  Could you give me the specific reference, Mr. Poch, so that I can pull that up?

MR. POCH:  Sure.  You can see on page 14 of our cross booklet where it's expressed in a table.

MS. LYNCH:  Thank you.  I have had a chance to look at this.

MR. POCH:  Do you have any problem just with Mr. Neme's translation of Mr. Chernick's values to expressing them as -- so we have a yardstick here, as to how they compare to your budget?  Does that math raise any flags for you?

I mean, if you haven't had a chance to go through that, that's your answer.  That's fine.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poch, are you asking Ms. Lynch to take a look at table 3 and agree with the math, or the general number as part of the budget you're asking her to confirm?  I'm not sure I follow your question.  I'm sorry.

MR. POCH:  It's just that Mr. Chernick came up with his coefficient, DRIPE coefficient for when you save a cubic metre of gas in Ontario, how much does it affect commodity prices.  I think it's .00027 cents and I can't remember the units but -- and just the translation of that into what that would mean for Union's customers in dollars, and therefore what those dollars would represent in comparison to the DSM.

MS. LONG:  You're not asking her to agree to that coefficient?

MR. POCH:  I'm not asking her to agree to the coefficient.  I realise that's a very complex matter, and -- I wanted to make sure that the subsequent math wasn't raising any concerns.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Lynch, do you understand the question?

MS. LYNCH:  I do more clearly now, thank you, and I'll say that while I have looked at this table, I have not looked in detail at the math that's been done.

MR. POCH:  That's fine.  Let's move on then.

A matter that just came to my attention; at page 15 of our materials, I just included a press report reporting on apparently a dispute between Union, Enbridge, and others, with TransCanada over costs that may be precipitated because of the Energy East project.

There is a dispute as to whether or not -- if I may paraphrase, and you can tell me if I've got this right.  Basically, the dispute is whether or not you're to be saved harmless from that, or you should have reserved more capacity and you've got to pay the $600 million bill, you and your -- and other utilities, other wholesale customers.

First of all, have I paraphrased that, what the nature of the dispute is, correctly, Mr. Quigley?  I imagine this is more for you.

MR. QUIGLEY:  I don't have -- I have not been following this in my current role, so --


MR. POCH:  Take that subject to check, if you would, that I haven't misstated what the issue is, I just wanted to ask what the implications are.


If in fact TCPL prevails, and if in fact 600 million is what -- you know, some portion of that 600 million is Union's obligation, that would -- how would that come into avoided costs?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, I guess from a capacity perspective, Union's contracted for enough capacity to meet its demands.  My understanding is there are other shippers that have not contracted for capacity.

So from a Union avoided supply and transport perspective, without knowing what the impact might be on it TCPL tolls, absent that there would be no volumetric impact for Union.

MR. POCH:  I'm not following you.  I see that it's reported here that the complaint was lodged by Enbridge and Union.  So I assume Union is impacted by the outcome of this dispute.

MR. QUIGLEY:  I can't speak to the details.  It's not --


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I can appreciate you are not in a position to speak to it, so I won't press that further.

Let me ask a theoretical question then. If such a dispute results in another significant sum that was not foreseen for this TCPL -- for use of the TCPL capacity, how will that affect avoided costs?

Too late for this hearing; is that fair?

MR. SLOAN:  Excuse me, excuse me.  If the capacity which is pretty much downstream of Union's system were avoided, then the avoided cost component of that capacity would be somewhat higher potentially than it is today.

So to the extent that there's any impact at all from that type of theoretical activity on Union's service territory, then it should be included in the avoided cost, and if the costs are higher, the avoided cost would be somewhat higher.

MR. POCH:  Great.  Okay.  I just want to move on then to another topic, and that was this question of carbon compliance costs.  Most of my -- I should say most of my questions on this will go to the next panel, but, you know, it's dear to my client's heart, so I have to touch on it here.

Ms. Lynch, has Union met with the government and had the sort of standard briefing on what their plans are in this regard, as most stakeholders, I think, have?

MS. LYNCH:  There has been stakeholder consultation, although I've not been involved in that.

MR. POCH:  Your company has been.

MS. LYNCH:  Been involved in the consultation session.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  We have reproduced just a few pages from the slide deck that the government's been using for those consultations.  These come -- these are part of an interrogatory response that's noted, starting at page 17 of our materials.

And I just want to see if this conforms to your understanding of what the stated intent of government is at this time.

First of all, at page 4 it's noted that the natural gas distributors will be covered, but that large emitters greater than 25 kilotonnes will be directly regulated.  They'll be covered, but they will be directly regulated.

MS. LYNCH:  I can see that here on the slide.  However, the context of the slide or the presentation material specifically I'm not aware of, so they appear to be targeted questions --


MR. POCH:  What did you assume -- what did you assume for avoided costs?

MS. LYNCH:  As outlined in the framework, we've included a 15 percent non-energy benefit.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And if you turn over the next page, they've given some -- this is a -- they've given a graphic there of an illustrative -- and I see that the decline line starts at the 2017 mark.  And it says that:

"A 2 to 3 percent per year decline will be needed to put Ontario on track to meet its 2020 emission target."


Any reason to disagree with that statement?

MS. LYNCH:  I certainly see that that's what's been indicated here.

MR. POCH:  You have no reason to disagree with that analysis on the government's part, that it would require a 2 to 3 percent decline per year starting in 2017 -- starting at 2017 -- I don't know when in 2017 -- to meet the 2020 target?

MS. LYNCH:  I would just say, again, Mr. Poch, this is not something I was specifically involved in.  I note at the bottom this was a draft for discussion --


MR. POCH:  Sure.

MS. LYNCH:  -- so I'm not aware of the context.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And if you go over the next page there is proposed key time lines in there.  The slides speak of a regulatory proposal to be posted this fall and a final regulation in the summer of 2016.

Did you make any assumptions about when -- when this would -- might come into play for the purposes of your avoided costs?

MS. LYNCH:  No, I haven't, and as I'd outlined at the beginning, I believe as elements like this become clear it would be something that would be appropriately considered at the midterm review.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  What is your working assumption of when the interim review will take place and what years of your plan it will then affect?  I appreciate this is out of your control somewhat.

MS. LYNCH:  Certainly the framework indicates, as the Minister's directive also said, that it needs to be completed by June 2018.  However, my expectation is that in order to complete it it would need to start earlier than that, and that there will be a number of pieces that will feed into that.

MR. POCH:  So if it's completed in June 2018, that means it is unlikely to affect your plans until 2019; correct?  Assuming we're on the same cycle of regulation.

MS. LYNCH:  Until we see more guidance on the structure of the midterm review, that would be to be determined.

MR. POCH:  So would you agree there is a significant possibility that we're going to have carbon pricing before the midterm review could implement changes to your plans, your budgets, your program mix, what-have-you?

MS. LYNCH:  I agree that there's certainly the potential for carbon pricing to be more clearly identified in the coming years, and we would take that into consideration in future.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And have you done any analysis to see how the carbon price, for example, as it's been found in recent auctions in Quebec and California, that -- jurisdictions we're going to link to, how that compares to the 15 percent?

MS. LYNCH:  No, I haven't.

MR. POCH:  And for your industrial customers, assuming they're directly regulated in the cap and trade regime, would you agree that DSM, to the extent that it was addressed to those customers, could help lower their cost of compliance, or free up allowances that they could then sell?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say until we see the structure and until we have a better understanding of the elements, I really can't comment on what would be expected.

MR. POCH:  Well, take my assumption that they're directly regulated and that there's a market.  If they need more than their allocation, they've got to buy it in the market, and if they use less, they can sell it in the market.  Wouldn't DSM assist them in lowering those costs?

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, at this point it seems to me that this line of questioning is becoming so speculative as to raise questions about its relevance.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Poch, to you want to respond to that?

MR. POCH:  Well, Madam Chair, we have pretty clear slides indicating where the government is headed and what the government policy is on this.  We have a commitment to a 2020 target.  We have a commitment to cap and trade, as you'll see later in the materials.  We now have announced we are linking to Quebec and California.  Linking has, as we will explain, has particular connotations for consistency.  I think there's -- we've seen the government -- there is no dispute with this -- what needs to be done.  We will come to interrogatories which show in the long-term.  Even if you eliminated all the other emissions in the economy, you'd still have to lower emissions in the natural gas sector for the 2020 -- 30 target.

I think there's no -- it is not speculation to say that this is going to have a real impact, and it's going to have a real impact during both the term of the six years and now, as I think it seems logical to assume, before the midterm review can take hold, and I think it is incumbent, therefore, for the parties and the Board to wrestle with this issue in this case, at least in the sense of deciding how any approvals would either allow or preclude reaction to that.

Moreover, I think we've already discussed with them, we have -- I may not have gotten to this yet.  I apologize if I'm leaping ahead.  There are screening measures today which have -- well, we heard 16-year average lives, so, you know, it is all based on forecasts.  Avoided costs are based on forecast.  Natural gas is a forecast.  This is just another forecast of an avoided cost, and so I think that's a concern.

Now whether or not it is dealt with in the 15 percent or not is an interesting discussion.  But I would stress that as the Board has said, as Board's counsel has said or told the courts, the guideline is just that.  It's not binding on this panel, it is not binding on the utilities, and I would suggest that if there is cogent evidence to suggest that the guideline is at this point in any sense, inappropriate, outdated, what have you, then this panel has to have regard to that.

So I would say this is all relevant.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, with that clarification in mind, it seems to Union that Ms. Lynch has answered the heart of the question, and has indicated that carbon pricing was not considered.

Beyond that, it doesn't seem me that we're in the realm of what my friend calls cogent evidence.

MR. POCH:  Well, if that's --


MS. LONG:  I mean, Mr. Poch, I think you can ask the witness panel what they have and have not considered.

I think there is a bit of a problem in that Ms. Lynch said she is not familiar with these slides.  She wasn't in attendance at any of these discussions, so it is difficult for her to opine what is on these slides.

But I think it is fair game to ask her what assumptions she has made around the questions that you have asked her.

MR. POCH:  Excuse me one second.

(Counsel confers).

MR. POCH:  All right, Madam Chair, I'm going to defer most of these questions to the next panel, which is more properly charged with carbon policy in the --


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  But just sticking to the avoided costs portion, I think -- well, let's back up to the more general principle.

Would you agree that all costs that are reasonably foreseeable should be captured in your avoided cost analysis?

[Witness panel confers].

MS. LYNCH:  Mr. Poch, could you repeat the question, please?

MR. POCH:  I'm wondering if you agree with the general principle that avoided costs, which determines what programs, what measures, what have you, should account for all foreseeable costs that can be avoided?

MR. SLOAN:  When we start moving into something like the carbon adders, I think that you're really moving beyond the total resource cost test and into a societal cost test.  My understanding of how Ontario has chosen to do that is through the 15 percent adder.

Any time you are starting to move into that type of issue, it becomes a policy issue.  And if the definition of a total resource cost test by policy includes something to address carbon, then appropriately it would be included.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Sloan, do you understand that the 15 percent adder for gas was the Board's decision?  It's a policy matter that this Board will decide, that it has voiced an opinion on already and will decide again in this case?


MR. SLOAN:  I recognize that, and agree that that's how the Board has addressed that issue.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Sloan, you understand that the 15 percent of avoided cost adder for electricity was imposed by the Minister, by contrast?

MR. SLOAN:  Now you're moving beyond my knowledge.

MR. POCH:  Take that as a given.  If those costs of carbon compliance are actually borne, internalized by the company and passed along to customers, would you agree that should be in TRC, not in -– it's not an externality any longer?

MR. SLOAN:  If shows up on a customer's bill, then it should show up in a total resource cost test.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I'm going to leave it there, because the follow-up questions to that really have to do with an understanding what's being burned on the electric side versus the gas, and I won't take you there.

Thank you, Madam Chair, I think I've come in under my estimate.

MS. LONG:  Those are all your questions, Mr. Poch, for this panel?

MR. POCH:  Those are all my questions, yes.

MS. LONG:  I'd like to continue.  So do we have another party, Mr. Millar, that's ready to proceed?

MR. MILLYARD:  I believe CME is scheduled to go next, Ms. Alexander.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Alexander, are you prepared to proceed at this point?

MS. ALEXANDER:  Yes, I can proceed.  I anticipate because various -- many of my questions have been covered already by GEC.  So I anticipate taking only about ten, maybe fifteen minutes.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MS. ALEXANDER:  If I could just ask for your indulgence for one moment?

MS. LONG:  Just as we wait, Mr. Smith, it is highly probable that we will reach panel number 2 today for Union.  So I'd just like you to be aware of that.

MR. SMITH:  We are quite aware.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ALEXANDER:  If everyone else is ready, I think I'm ready to begin.

MS. LONG:  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Alexander:


MS. ALEXANDER:  I just would like to take us maybe a step back, and I have some more general questions to present to the panel.

Just beginning with Mr. Sloan very briefly, and touching on the report that you wrote or was commissioned by Union, in that report you made four recommendations that have already briefly been talked about.

I believe I understand from your evidence earlier this morning that you agree that three of them have been implemented by Union?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And the fourth recommendation, being that infrastructure planning be done and incorporated, that has not been completed.  Is that correct?

MR. SLOAN:  It has not been completed.  Union put a proxy in as a placeholder, and agreed that it would be appropriate to look at that in more detail.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  And so for the first three recommendations -- and I don't know if it's a question is for yourself, or Ms. Lynch, or Mr. Quigley -- have those recommendations been fully implemented, or are there any existing refinements that still need to be done?

MR. QUIGLEY:  From our perspective, they're fully implemented.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And then with that understanding, they're included completely in this application?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.

MS. ALEXANDER:  However, the fourth recommendation was put forward through the proxy, correct?

MS. LYNCH:  That is correct.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.  I just would like to touch briefly on the infrastructure planning study that you mentioned that is going forward.  What is the current status of that study at this stage?

MS. LYNCH:  We have outlined a preliminary piece in our evidence; however, the complete scope of work is still to be completed.  Our hope would be that we would be able to issue an RFP for that this fall, just depending on timing.

MS. ALEXANDER:  In the scope of the DSM project going forward, do you have a timeline for its completion, for the infrastructure planning studies to be completed?

MS. LYNCH:  We have committed that we would complete it in time to inform the midterm review.

MS. ALEXANDER:  In your evidence -- I believe it's at Exhibit D -- or, sorry, Exhibit A, tab 1, appendix D -- when you are referring to the infrastructure planning study you note that it would be premature at this time to bring forward a transition plan.  However, I understand that Enbridge has brought a transition plan forward; is that correct?

MS. LYNCH:  That is my understanding.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And what is the reasoning behind -- in Union's case -- it being premature in your understanding?

MS. LYNCH:  Given the number of elements that we believe we'll need to consider in completing this study, we would like to be able to get a better understanding of what the scope and ultimately the recommendations will be before we can say how we would transition.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Your understanding is that better understanding will come through what?  How will you gain that understanding?

MS. LYNCH:  Through the completion of the study.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  And so is it your reflection then that Enbridge has not completed -- that theirs is premature as well because they are not doing the same diligence that you are?

MS. LYNCH:  No, I would say they've put a proposal forward based on their knowledge at this point.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And just so that I can understand, then, what makes the knowledge that Union has different than the knowledge that Enbridge has, that makes it premature in your case but not theirs?

MS. LYNCH:  I can't speak to the specifics of their knowledge, only to say that they have -- had done more initial work in this area prior to the filing.

MS. ALEXANDER:  What's the reason then for Union not having done more initial work?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say we've had identified, as you will see in our evidence, a report that we did have done for us by Dunsky that just looks at what's happening in other jurisdictions as an initial piece to try and inform us on the approach that we would take, but we recognize that the idea of deferral and infrastructure planning in the natural gas market is relatively a new concept, and that we think it's important that we ensure that we take the time that we need to take that into account.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And I assume you're aware from reviewing the record the Synapse report that has been commissioned by the Board for these proceedings?

MS. LYNCH:  I'm aware of the Synapse report.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And are you familiar with the criticisms that they put forward in that report regarding Union's prematurity?  I believe it's at page 129 or page 30  of the Synapse report, where they criticize Union for not putting forward the transition plan?  Are you familiar with that?

MS. LYNCH:  I'm familiar with that.

MS. ALEXANDER:  You're familiar with it?  And your response to that criticism?

MS. LYNCH:  Bear with me.  I just want to take a look.  I've taken a look.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And what is your response to that criticism?

MS. LYNCH:  My response is again that I think it's important that we complete the study, that we ensure that we've developed the appropriate scope, and that we've taken the time required to do that in an area that as I said is relatively new and has not -- not been widely explored and will require careful consideration in how the -- how the study is completed and how ultimately we would take that into account in future DSM planning.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  Thank you.  On page 30 (sic) of the Synapse report it lists recommendations in regards to gas infrastructure planning, and the third recommendation for Union states that:

"Union should modify the avoided cost inputs to it (sic)  cost benefit screening practice but does not need to develop a new screening test."


What's your understanding of the meaning of that recommendation?  What's Union's understanding of the meaning of that recommendation?

MS. LYNCH:  Could I just clarify?  Page 30?

MS. ALEXANDER:  130.

MS. LYNCH:  130.  Sorry.

MS. ALEXANDER:  I'm sorry if I misspoke.

MS. LYNCH:  My interpretation of that is that Union should consider the input to it, but that the screening test itself does not need to change.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And what would be some examples of considering the input to it?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say, for example, including a specific T&D component that was based on an assessment of our system.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And this may be touching upon some discussions that we had earlier this morning, but would you -- are you in agreement with that recommendation in terms of including a specific T&D component?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, and we did outline in our evidence that we did -- that it will be an element that we will consider and include.  Again, we have the proxy, for the purposes of screening in this plan.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So again, Union would propose that we wait until the midpoint in order to understand what those specific inclusions would be?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I would propose we continue with the proxy until we have completed the study that will inform future values.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right.  And I assume, then, with that understanding that Union does not know what elements -- or cannot provide any specific clarification about what elements then that would affect in the DSM plan, what elements the T&D component would affect, such as for example, rates?

MS. LYNCH:  It would not change the programs as we have them laid out right now.  The overall plan is cost-effective, and we're meeting the cost-effectiveness thresholds with the avoided costs as we have them before the Board.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Sorry, just so that I understand, you're saying that the study that you're doing, which you don't know what results will come from it, will not have any effect that may require changes?

MS. LYNCH:  It will have an effect to the extent that it's different in making the plan more or less cost effective relative to what we have here.  But the cost effectiveness isn't the limiter.  We need to take into account the budget guidance, and all of the different elements that need to be considered in the context of the plan.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So would it have budget implications?

MS. LYNCH:  No, based on the budget guidance that we've received from the Board and the plan that we've built within that guidance.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Just so that I understand, am I correct in hearing what you're saying that the infrastructure planning study is created in such a way that it will only make changes within those budget parameters?

MS. LYNCH:  From an avoided cost perspective, as we're screening the plan that we have here.  I will say that the -- another element of the avoided -- another element of the infrastructure planning study is assessing whether we can do targeted DSM within, say, a geography to defer infrastructure within a specific area.

To the extent that that was identified, that would be something we would need to take -- if that was identified as a potential opportunity, then we would need to take that into consideration in future.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right, so it may have some budget implications within scope?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, and I'd say the Board, in their framework, has said to us that if the outcome of the study indicates, then we have the ability -- indicates that we should or could pursue specific targeted infrastructure, that we could bring a budget proposal forward based on that.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And would that budget proposal include the request for funding beyond what is in the DSM application?

MS. LYNCH:  I think that's something -- it could, and I think that's just something we'd have to assess once we have completed the study to know the parameters we would be considering.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right.  So presumably, there are implications from the infrastructure planning study that could have unknown effects on rates, or on budgeting?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, it could have an impact on the budget.  Again, I just see that as something that we would look to consider at mid-term.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Alexander.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I was reluctant to interrupt my friend, but I'd like to make a brief procedural observation in the interests of efficiency and fairness.

Future infrastructure planning activities are covered by topic 12, which is the next panel, and while Ms. Lynch of is on that panel as well, just as a general proposition, I think things will proceed more smoothly, and we'll get the best and most helpful evidence if we can address questions on topics that are specifically allocated to other panels to those other panels.

MS. LONG:  I appreciate that.  I guess the question with respect to avoided costs that Ms. Alexander asked, I think we wanted to get some background in there to set the stage for asking that question.  So I think people will consider what panel it is best to put questions to, but I have no issue with her having asked those questions of this panel.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, are you prepared to proceed on behalf of FRPO?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am.  I am down for .2.  It might be .3, based upon what Mr. Poch had opened with in his opening, if that is acceptable to the Panel.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.  We are going to go until one o'clock.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn, and I'm representing the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

And we understand the importance of these proceedings, given this important time in the Ontario economy from an energy and environmental point of view.

So I'm going to heed what Mr. Poch talked about, and not get into the detail.  But I think it's important for the record, and for the concerns of Ontario ratepayers, that we address some aspects of this topic of DRIPE.

And so my questions will be focussed in the area of DRIPE and there are some questions for Mr. Sloan, hopefully, and for Mr. Quigley in terms of Union Gas' procedures in that area.

I think the best frame of reference for my questions may be the actual GEC evidence, which is contained at Exhibit L, GEC 2, and we can start -- well, we can start basically on page 15, if we could have that turned up?

And this is the page corrected as of August 12th, and this is not going to be as helpful as I'd hoped, so I'm going to talk conceptually.

In fairness to our friends from GEC, we had asked a question about the figure that is in the correction, and I have the original version which had a figure which was Dawn basis in US dollars versus Toronto heating degree days.

We as FRPO had asked a question about that figure, and GEC has withdrawn it.  And that's the omission that is noted here in the corrected updated evidence.

So I'm going to talk just conceptually about the events of the -- in the market around February of both 2014 and 2015.

In going through a technical conference with Mr. Chernick, I realized again GEC is not generally involved in deferral account dispositions as the ratepayer groups are.  And so they would not have had the benefit of the knowledge that we had in going through -- in EB-2014-0145, Mr. Quigley, we went three the events of what happened at Dawn in February of 2014.


Can I address questions about Union's bundling -- sorry, bundling transportation practices to you?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I will answer them to the best extent possible.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I think it's important for the record, because it gives context to the discussion that I had with Mr. Chernick in the technical conference.  But just at a high level, we understand that Union has a requirement that bundled transportation customers must balance to a February checkpoint.


Could you just give us a high-level summary of that policy?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Certainly.  For the direct purchase customers, they basically have an inventory curve that they have to follow through the year.  So at February 28th, which is our design day from a storage planning perspective, they have an inventory target that they're to hit.

So customers in -- for instance, anyone that is below that inventory curve has to bring in supply to get their balance back to that point on the curve by February 28th.  Customers who were above the curve have an option of taking action, but are not required, but those customers that are below the curve.


So they've been normally in the winters that -- the Februarys that Mr. Quinn has referred to, it was much colder.  The winter has been much colder than what the normal plan would be, so those customers are consuming more gas than would have been forecasted.  So they are -- under by terms of their service, they need to bring in that gas to get back to that forecasted checkpoint at February 28th.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir, that's a very good summary.  And you alluded it, but just for a point of emphasis, both February of 2014 and February of 2015 had some very cold temperatures, which resulted in customers having to buy gas at Dawn during those periods?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yeah, I'm not -- I know both winters were colder, I'm not sure.  I think the distribution of when the coldest temperatures happened varied between the two winters.

But customers would be notified at the beginning of February that they needed to take action by the end of the month.

MR. QUINN:  By the end of the month.  So there is a notification that goes out early in the month, and they have until the end of the month to come up to their prescribed balancing point.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  I think that's sufficient, but the effect of that is there is increased activity of gas purchases at Dawn, because that's where they need to get the gas to, during those respective months of February of 2014 and 2015?

MR. QUIGLEY:  There would be increased purchase activity, most likely at Dawn.  The gas has to arrive at Dawn.  Whether they buy it at Dawn or buy it somewhere upstream and ship it, they have to get the gas to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So as a result of that then, the transactions that occur at Dawn are not necessarily linked to the coldness of the individual day, but more to the need of customers to come into balance by the end of February?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct, there is multiple -- multiple things happening in the market than just the temperature on that day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I think that's sufficient, and has been acknowledged by our friends in the technical conference that it is a more complex market, and I'm going to turn to you, Mr. Sloan, in a few minutes about distinguishing that market from others, but in going through Mr. Poch's discussion with you this morning, I was having a hard time distinguishing city gate versus Dawn, and sometimes it seemed like they were being used interchangeably, but Mr. Quigley, I guess I'll direct my question to you.

SENDOUT, does it -- the runs that are done for SENDOUT, are they done using Dawn as the delivery point?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you are establishing a price or a commodity price, and so from an avoided cost methodology you are doing various runs, one as a baseline, as I understood, to establish what the commodity price would be at Dawn as your initial baseline?

MR. QUIGLEY:  The commodity price is set based on what was in the gas supply plan.  The demands are adjusted such that the incremental demand from the DSM programs, the model would be looking for how to acquire that supply, and it is purchased in the south at Dawn, so it is not setting a price for Dawn, but it is conducting its activity at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So once it is established -- the baseline is established in your gas supply plan to do the avoided cost, you infer a reduction in demand and then rerun the SENDOUT model to establish what the difference in cost would be with that reduction in demand; is that an accurate summary?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, and so the gas is being delivered at Dawn; you are not trying to in any way simulate or estimate the impact at Parkway.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when you're using city gate versus Dawn, help me with your definition of city gate.  Is that interchangeable with Dawn, or are you talking about city gate at the respective gate stations of communities in southwestern Ontario?

MR. QUIGLEY:  For modelling purposes we're talking Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Talking Dawn.  And Mr. Sloan, just so we're on the same page, is that the same frame of reference you were using for that term?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just, I think that's an important distinction, because now we get into this issue Mr. Poch had started after the break with, there is transmission between Dawn and respective community gate stations.  I am using gate stations, not city gate.  And you would agree with that, Mr. Sloan?  I see you're nodding.

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, I'll agree with that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Great.  That's helpful to understand.

And so I -- again, we are going to stay at the high level, because Mr. Poch has acknowledged that this is not something the Board is going to have the ability to determine without more information, but one of the things Mr. Poch did say was using a potential to use coefficients as place-holders that may be different from what is in the evidence of the respective utilities.

So I want to just cap a little bit further on that, and if you would move down in the evidence to page 17, I think -- yes, page 17.  As an analogous situation, Mr. Chernick identified examining the historical relationship between monthly consumption in the northeast and the basis from Henry Hub to TETCO M3 zone.

Now, Mr. Sloan, I understand, with respect, your experience in the market, and so that I don't lead your opinion on that, what would you say would be the differentiating factor between TETC0 M3 zone and Dawn?

MR. SLOAN:  They are in very different parts of the North American market, with very different constraints into and around the different regions.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I was hoping for a little more specificity, so let me ask you --


MR. SLOAN:  TETCO M3 is a constraint point, and you get much bigger price impacts there with changes in demand.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I agree with that.

Can you comment on the ability of storage to TETCO M3?

MR. SLOAN:  Thank you for leading me.  One of the main reasons why you have a difference in the market is because of the availability of storage, and at Dawn and in Michigan and Dawn, storage plays a major role in smoothing out the market over time, and you don't have that in the northeastern United States, and that's one of the reasons why you have the extreme volatility in prices in that region of the country.

MR. QUINN:  So based upon your understanding of that market and your understanding of DRIPE, which you commented on in your report, would you see TETCO M3 being a parallel situation to Dawn and --


MR. SLOAN:  It's not a relevant comparison.

MR. QUINN:  Not a relevant comparison.  Okay.  Those are your words.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt, but I'm just worried that the record is a little confused, because he's using the word DRIPE, and I think what we've been talking about is what Mr. Chernick called basis DRIPE or transportation DRIPE.  I just want to make sure for the record that's clear.  If my friends wouldn't mind just clarifying their use of the terminologies.

MR. SLOAN:  I think that I've answered the specific question correctly.  There are different concepts of DRIPE, as you will point out.  There is a North American price impact concept, as well as a city gate price impact, and they are different.

MR. QUINN:  They are different, Mr. Sloan, but --


MR. SLOAN:  Actually, let me rephrase that.

MR. QUINN:  Please.

MR. SLOAN:  The North America is a subset of the city gate.

MR. QUINN:  So as it pertains to the ability of -- and I'll distinguish them as two different consents -- for basis DRIPE is TETCO M3 an analogous situation for Dawn?

MR. SLOAN:  TETCO M3 is not an analogous situation to Dawn for any of that type of analysis.

MR. QUINN:  So for any of that type of analysis would you say the city gate DRIPE that I think Mr. Poch is referring to -- if I've got that wrong, Mr. Poch, I don't want -- I want to establish the record clearly -- is that what you are referring to?

MR. POCH:  Sorry, I don't want to keep interrupting you.  No, I just felt that what you were just talking about were local constraints, constraints in transmission, that would obviously affect that region, and that there would be basis DRIPE for, and that would be different than any other region, and I think that was acknowledged, and that's -- in my preamble to the Board I said that's why we're not proposing anything.  That would have to be Ontario-specific, as opposed to what we'll call continental -- I think you've used the phrase continental DRIPE.  I just wanted to make sure we knew which one we were talking about in that discussion, that's all.

MR. SLOAN:  I understand the distinction, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So as it pertains to the ability to use TETCO, information to inform the potential impacts for Ontario, you would say that that's not --


MR. SLOAN:  There's no relevance.

MR. QUINN:  There's no relevance.  Thank you.  That should be sufficient, but just to Mr. Poch's concern, I'm going to ask some more generic question:  If you are evaluating the market at Dawn relative to the North American market on an annualized basis, are the distinctions you would make at Dawn because specifically its access to storage?

MR. SLOAN:  That's part of the reasons.  That's one of the reasons why there would not be a significant difference between Dawn and a North American market price impact.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

One further question while we have you here, Mr. Sloan.  I respect that we want to ask questions here, and I think it is appropriate, but Mr. Quigley described doing a baseline assessment of costs using SENDOUT as -- from the gas pipeline and then doing the subsequent analysis based upon a reduction in demand.

Did you assess the comparison of those two SENDOUT outputs?

MR. SLOAN:  I had a detailed discussion about the methodology and the approach and the inputs, and I saw the results.  I did not run the model myself or look at any of the internal calculations within the model.

MR. QUINN:  And it's been subject of past proceedings, so we're not -- and I appreciate the clarification.  You didn't run the model, but you looked at summary output reports from -- that compared the baseline to the demand-side reduction commodity price?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes, I have, and what I was provided has been provided in this proceeding.  And I'm sure that my colleague can come up with a number, if that's relevant.

MR. QUINN:  I don't need a number, but if I may --


MR. SLOAN:  More reference.

MR. QUINN:  -- in the interests of time, if Union would provide, after the break, what the reference is to where those output reports are, that would just be helpful to me to see what you saw, and hopefully to establish that due process here has gone on with DRIPE and we're satisfied with that result.

I see -- Ms. Lynch, you able to provide that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  We can provide the undertaking, or interrogatory references.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah, even just after the break.  It need not be an undertaking.  If, after the break, you can just come back and tell us what that reference is, I would be satisfied with that.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Certainly.

MR. SLOAN:  If I could ask you a question?  You said due process with respect to DRIPE, and within the SENDOUT model there was no consideration of DRIPE.

MR. QUINN:  No, the model itself would establish -- I run the risk of saying too much here.  I understand the distinction you're making, sir, and --


MR. SLOAN:  Let me try and clarify one more thing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SLOAN:  The output of the model also is not addressing DRIPE.

MR. QUINN:  It's addressing the demand reduction?


MR. SLOAN:  It is addressing the change in cost to Union Gas associated with the change in demand.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, we're on the same page, sir, thank you.

MR. SLOAN:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  I hope that's clear for the record, and I hope that's helpful to the Board.  Those are my questions for this morning.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Quinn, I want to clarify one thing with you.  In a preamble to one of your questions to Mr. Sloan, you said this is not something the Board is going to have the ability to determine without more information.

Were you referring to avoided costs?  Because I want to be very clear in response to the objection raise by Mr. Shepherd and Mr. O'Leary that that may be the parties' opinion, that we do not have information to make a determination on avoided cost, but that's not off the table.


So we are going to listen to all evidence on avoided costs, and parties should ask any questions that they have of this panel because we may, at the end of the day, determine we don't have enough information, or we may determine that we do and come up with a value for avoided cost.

So I just want to be very clear to everyone here that they need to be asking questions.  That may be your opinion that we don't, but I'm hoping that you are asking all the questions you need to, in order to make your argument at the end of the day.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, I appreciate your concern to make sure that I've asked the questions.  I was actually -- and I probably should have used more specific terminology, in the area of DRIPE and the Ontario market.

It emanates ought out of the technical conference on Monday; there was an acknowledgement of a gap of information.  That's what I was referring to, but not the Board's complete determination of avoided costs.

So thank you for that clarification.

MS. LONG:  Thank you for clarifying that for the record.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, how long do you think you'll be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have three questions and I'll probably be five minutes.

MS. LONG:  Then I think we will proceed with you and then I think, Mr. Smith, we're going to have the panel come back after lunch, because I imagine that the panel may have some questions.  And then we'll move done panel 2.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd, and I represent the School Energy Coalition.

I just have three questions, and my reference point it page 20 of the Green Energy Coalition cross-examination compendium.

And the first question is you have a built into your TRC calculations a 15 percent uplift, which is based on Board's policy, right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we have included it as an adder to our avoided costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And aside from that, your assumption as to the avoided cost of carbon is zero, right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we have assumed at this point it's included in the 15 percent adder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have, anywhere in the record, an estimate of the average cost per cubic metre associated with that 15 percent uplift?  Do we know what that translates to in terms of per cubic metre?

I looked and I couldn't find it, and what I'm going to ask is that you undertake to calculate that number.  It should be just math.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I'm not aware that there's anywhere that it's in the evidence right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you calculate it?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MILLYARD:  J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  UNION TO ESTIMATE THE AVERAGE COST PER CUBIC METRE ASSOCIATED WITH THAT 15 PERCENT UPLIFT BUILT INTO UNION'S TRC CALCULATIONS

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my third question is:  If you look at page 20 of the GEC compendium, you see a table of carbon prices basically.

I don't want to go into detail on what the -- where these came from or why they're relevant or not.  I'm just using them as an example of carbon prices.

And what I'm going to ask you to do is can you convert those carbon prices into cost per cubic metre, based on what you know about your carbon emissions, and therefore how much you would have to buy to get rid of any given amount of carbon.

Can you do that calculation for us as an undertaking?

What I'm trying to do, just to give you -- I mean, I'm not trying to hide it, really -- is I'm trying to compare how much per cubic metre is in the 15 percent and how much per cubic metre is in the various carbon prices, to see how they relate.  Is carbon likely to be more than is already in the 15 percent, or some portion of it?

And so if you could do that calculation, it should be, again, just math.

[Witness panel confers].

MS. LYNCH:  Just for clarity, Mr. Shepherd, in reference to the pricing in this table as referenced?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, and then show us the calculation, because then we'll be able to translate it into different levels of carbon prices.  That was the point of using the example.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we can look at that.

MR. MILLYARD:  That is J1.3.  Just to be clear, could you repeat what the undertaking is, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The undertaking it is to convert the cost -- the carbon prices in the table on page 20 of the GEC compendium into equivalent per cubic metre costs.  These are obviously at the margin; right?

And, Madam Chair, those are all our questions.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  UNION TO PROVIDE A CONVERSION OF THE CARBON PRICES IN THE TABLE ON PAGE 20 OF THE GEC COMPENDIUM INTO EQUIVALENT PER CUBIC METRE COSTS

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SLOAN:  I'm sorry to interrupt, but is there a units on the table?  Presumably there is some place, but without that, you couldn't do the conversion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, perhaps Mr. Poch could tell us what the units are.

MR. POCH:  I will -- I will provide today the full documents, the cite for it.

It is a Quebec government document, and I think it explains what it is.  Hopefully, that will help.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  That being said, we will take a break and we will be back at two o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:54 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:01 p.m.


MS. LONG:  Before we begin, Mr. Smith, are there any preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  There are not.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


I understand that Board Staff has a question for the panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm very sorry, Madam Chair, we had not put ourselves down for any time, but there was one -- just one very question that twigged the Staff as we were listening to the other examinations, and with your permission I'd like to put a very, very brief set of questions to the witness panel.


MS. LONG:  Yes, please go ahead.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel, my name is Michael Millar, I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I don't mean to take you by surprise by any stretch, so I'm just going to read what's on my paper here, and I'll see what answer you can give me.


Does the panel or perhaps our expert witness believe that there is a price suppression impact of DSM programs, just generally speaking?


MR. SLOAN:  Conceptually there is an impact.  The question is, how significant is it and how do you estimate it, and is big enough to make it worth trying to estimate, and --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, and --


MR. SLOAN:  -- it's small.


MR. MILLAR:  No, I understand that to be your evidence before.  And you did discuss the difficulty in estimating that price suppression impact.


Is it possible to use the models used for modelling the natural gas flow in North America to be used to quantify the impact of DSM price suppression?  Would that be a potential avenue to get at that figure?


MR. SLOAN:  That's one approach to doing it.  The concern there is that the values are so small that you start getting into the solution issues, and we have a model.  You know, we would test it before we could tell a client that we would be able to do it.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. SLOAN:  Because without doing it and testing it I'm not sure that it would be within -- you would get a reasonable solution with the model with that small of an impact.


MR. MILLAR:  Understood, but that might be one of the types of things you would look at if you were trying to quantify that number; that's a possible avenue?


MR. SLOAN:  That's a possible avenue, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Panel, Ms. Frank has some questions for you.

Questions by the Board:

MS. FRANK:  I'm going to start by understanding the SENDOUT model, and the answers that we got this morning indicated that it was a three-year model; is that correct?


MR. QUIGLEY:  The inputs that go into it, yes, cover the three-year time span, so in the evidence filed it would be -- in the -- the avoided supply costs would be for 2015, '16, and '17.


MS. FRANK:  So I wanted to understand what you did for the period beyond that, because this application obviously goes beyond that, so something about, what do you do and your level of comfort and accuracy with the period beyond the three years.


MS. LYNCH:  So beyond three years we apply an inflation rate that represents the remainder of the 30 years that we have our avoided costs.  One of the other factors we apply that came at the advice of ICF in the report that they did for us was to include a commodity adjustment factor, so to assume, after the three years, that the price of the commodity would follow, obviously, a forecast, but that we would adjust, if we said from '17 to '18 gas prices are expected to go up by 5 percent, that we would then apply a 5 percent factor to our third-year cost to get to our fourth-year cost, so it is based on our SENDOUT for the first three years and then expectations within the marketplace beyond that.


MS. FRANK:  Specifically for commodity, but just inflation for everything else; is that true?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then my question might be:  Did you look and see historically, if you did that inflation and commodity type adjustment, how accurate would the SENDOUT model have been?  The results -- just using this mechanical adjustment, how accurate would it have been; did you look at that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  We haven't looked at that.


MS. FRANK:  Is that a big job?  Could you look at that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  I'd have to think about it, to be honest with you.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then another way would be, could you actually add any sophistication to the -- I'm really trying to get us to 2020 with a bit more accuracy.  Did you look at actually improving the accuracy for the following years?  Is there a way of doing that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  We could do it -- we'd need a demand -- a DSM demand forecast out to -- specifically by type, by program.  The demand forecast we get only goes out to 2017 in the model, so if we had a forecast out to 2020 and a price forecast, we could model it in SENDOUT.


MS. FRANK:  Would somebody else need to do this, or is this an internal-to-Union issue?


MS. LYNCH:  No, we could do the demand forecast based on the plan that we have here.


MS. FRANK:  Right.  Right, so it would be consistent with your requested spend levels and programs?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, because it would be consistent with the savings that we're assuming would happen from the plan.


MS. FRANK:  Okay, once again, how much effort?  Is this doable?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, it's doable.


MS. FRANK:  Then I think we want an undertaking to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Frank, that is Undertaking JT1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  UNION TO INFORM HOW ACCURATE THE SENDOUT MODEL WOULD HAVE BEEN IF INFLATION AND COMMODITY TYPE ADJUSTMENTS HAD BEEN APPLIED.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Second area goes to the conversation we had earlier this morning about the adder that you use, the 2 percent adder, as your placeholder adjustment pending your study.


And there was some discussion that this 2 percent was really based upon historic program levels, not really what's in your plan; is that true?


MS. LYNCH:  It's based on an allocation from our 2013 results.


MS. FRANK:  If you actually looked to the program that you are requesting and the allocations that are in that program, the 2 percent would likely be a different number, and my question is going to be:  Could you actually give us that different number?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we could do that.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  And before I get an undertaking for that, so I get that revised number, but then it has a consequence, so I'd like you to flow it through as well.  Is that doable?


MS. LYNCH:  Just for clarity, we would flow it through to show revised total resource cost numbers as a result of that adjustment.


MS. FRANK:  Right.  Yes.


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. FRANK:  So now I would like an undertaking that does that, please.


MR. MILLAR:  That's JT1.5.


MS. LYNCH:  So that is a two-part undertaking under JT1.5, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  You have that undertaking, yes.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  UNION USE HISTORICAL PROGRAM LEVELS IN PLACE OF 2 percent ADDER AND CALCULATE TRC TO 2016 AND ALL 5 YEARS.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Now, I assume, just a little bit of clarity, that you could do this for '16, but asking you to do it for the five years, that's over the top, I assume, but if isn't, then by all means, five years is great.


MS. LYNCH:  Okay.


MS. FRANK:  Last question, and I'm not certain you are the right panel, so Mr. Smith will tell me to go to another panel if I'm in the wrong place.  We talked a little bit about the $2 for residential customers being a level that you were targeting, and I know your analysis say that on average you're there.


My question is:  Is this a reflection of the costs of delivering the programs, or is it, as Mr. Poch suggested, a net number after taking off any benefits that the average customer would receive?  Which of the two is it?


MS. LYNCH:  The $2 is in relation to the costs of the program and the expected shareholder incentive, so it's a combination of that, to meet the $2.


MS. FRANK:  But there's no benefit reduction?  We talked a bit this morning about various sources of benefits that may be associated with the bill impact for the average customer.  There is no reduction for that?


MS. LYNCH:  No, and certainly within panel 2 we will be able to talk about it more specifically.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Okay.  Well, then I'll wait for panel 2 to -- I'm just going to give you a heads-up, I'm interested in what the components are of that reduction, what might they look like, so...


Okay, those are all my questions.


MS. LYNCH:  Thank you.


MS. DUFF:  I just have one.  It's to Mr. Sloan.  Given your experience and -- in your -- different boards throughout Canada and the U.S., what is done in terms of after-the-fact verification of avoided cost estimates and forecasts that were once baked into DSM decision-making?


MR. SLOAN:  There's very seldom a specific effort to go back and review the numbers that I'm aware of.

It has been that there have been some proceedings that I'm not involved with, so I'm not sure exactly where they would have gone back.  And Mr. Chernick may have some thoughts on that as well.

But I have not typically seen a look back at the avoided cost forecasts or estimates.

MS. DUFF:  Specifically, because to isolate and identify the DSM impacts alone of prices of gas, of infrastructure avoided, in particular those items, again is your answer that --


MR. SLOAN:  I've never seen it, so if it has happened, it is outside of my experience.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Those are the Panel's questions.  Mr. Smith, do you have any redirect?

MR. SMITH:  None, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Then, panel, you are excused and we thank you very much for your evidence.

MR. QUINN:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, I hate to interrupt.  I was expecting, as any part of any kind of procedural matters upfront with a reference to the SENDOUT output that Mr. Sloan had reviewed, and Union thought it was in the evidence somewhere.

MR. SMITH:  I can provide that now.  It is B.T9.Union.GEC.65.

MS. LONG:  Is that sufficient, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I was just looking the reference, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, perhaps you could get your next panel up and ready?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, a moment's indulgence for that?

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, while we are getting everybody assembled, do you have any in-chief for this panel?

MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Are you sure, Mr. Tetreault, we don't want you falling off the end.  Is it more comfortable for you?

MR. TETREAULT:  I think I'll be fine.  I wanted to make sure I had access to the mic, and I think it might be easier without the table.

MS. LONG:  Maybe we can make some adjustments for tomorrow.

Mr. Smith, do you want to introduce the panel?

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps the panel could just introduce themselves, going from Mr. Tetreault on my immediate left, with names and titles.

MR. TETREAULT:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Greg Tetreault; I am the manager of accounting and finance support.

MR. DIBAJI:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Ehsan Dibaji, manager of low-income marketing.

MS. LYNCH:  Hello again.  Tracey Lynch, director of energy conservation strategy.

MS. BROOKS:  Good afternoon, Panel; Tracey Brooks, manager of DSM strategy.

MR. GOULDEN:  Good afternoon, Panel; Bryan Goulden, manager market development.

MR. SMITH:  With that, I believe we can open the panel up for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  We'll have them affirmed first.  Ms. Frank?
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2, MAIN PANEL

Tracy Lynch; Previously Affirmed

Tracey Brooks; Affirmed

Ehsan Dibaji; Affirmed

Bryan Goulden; Affirmed

Greg Tetreault; Affirmed


MS. LONG:  Do I understand, Mr. Millar, that Board Staff is going to proceed first?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon, panel.  I am Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I had originally not expected to go until Friday, so I to apologize if I am less than smooth in a few areas.  I'll be working more from notes than a proper cross-examination plan, and I will be jumping around quite a bit, too.


This isn't a holistic overview of all your offerings and programs, so I will ask you to bear with me.

Let me start by some questions following up on Ms. Lynch's presentation this morning.  I wanted to ask you some questions about your annual target setting and the adjustment factor that you propose.

I'm just going to set this out at the highest level, and I don't necessarily need to get into the specific details.  But I just want to make sure I understand how it will work if Union's proposal is accepted.

First of all, we'll get into this later, but I understand you build -- at the outset you build the targets using a ground-up approach for each individual program, is that correct?  A bottom-up approach is the way I think it's been described.


MS. LYNCH:   Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would form the targets in year 1, is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  That would be for each area in the plan.

MR. MILLAR:  So you do a bottom-up analysis for the target for the each year of the plan?

MR. DIBAJI:  As we've laid it out in appendix A, tab 3, we have outlooked annual forecasts for the targets.  But as is our proposal that we have a formulaic approach after the first year.

MR. MILLAR:  So you use the bottom up approach for the first year, and then it's the formulaic approach after that?

MR. DIBAJI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And as part of that formulaic approach, as I understand it –

[TELECONFERENCE SYSTEM INTERRUPTION]


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe that's our dial- in service.  I propose to continue and hope that we're not interrupted again.

MS. LONG:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  So as I think I was saying, the formulaic approach that you propose would, in part, updated the targets based on the previous year's results; is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to give you an example, if one program did poorly and you did not hit your target in year 1, in year 2 that target would be adjusted downwards to some extent; is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  It would depend on the metric.  Fewer metrics are based on cost effectiveness or I would say yield, that the cubic metres of gas saved per dollar spent, so there are circumstances where we may have not achieved the target, but we were also underspent, so our target wouldn't necessarily go down the following year, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But in my -- let's take an example.  You did spend your budget and it is an m-cubed target, something like that, you didn't hit the target, your target for the next year would be adjusted downwards.

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And conversely, it works both ways.  If you hit the ball out of the park on a particular program, your target would increase in the next year.

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

And correct me if I'm wrong, I always start with the Board's framework when I consider how the programs should look, at least at the outset, and as I read through the guidelines, I didn't -- or, pardon me, the framework, not the guidelines -- I didn't see specific direction on this point.  Is that fair, or did I miss something?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this is something that Union has proposed, I guess, I don't want to say outside the framework.  It's something that the framework is silent on.

MR. DIBAJI:  Yes, this is something that we've proposed, but we've been following through with since the generic, even within the generic between 2007 to 2011, we are under a formulaic target setting mechanism with the TRC target.  Then that followed through with the 2012-2014 framework, where we also proposed a formulaic approach, and we propose to continue with that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you propose to maintain the status quo?  Was that fair?

MR. DIBAJI:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And for that previous proceeding, the 2012 to 2014, that was arrived at by way of a settlement; is that correct?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there is a Board decision on that to the extent that it approves the settlement proposal, but there is a not a -- we won't find a passage in a Board decision discussing this issue; is that fair?

MR. DIBAJI:  With the exception of our large-volume plan that was before the Board in 2013, where they also made a decision on a formulaic approach for that scorecard.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But absent that example there is not a --


MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The Board may have turned its mind to it in the sense that they accepted the settlement proposal, but it is not something that was litigated before the Board, if I could put it that way; is that fair?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  I want to look at some of the potential implications if this proposal is accepted by the Board.  Let's say your proposal is accepted.  I guess a question for you is, if targets are adjusted downwards based on what I'll call poor performance or, in other words, failing to hit the target, doesn't that serve to protect the company from poor performance?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. DIBAJI:  I think that would speak more to the accuracy of the assumptions we use to build up our targets in the beginning.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's a fair point, I think.  So it seems to me -- and correct me if you take a different view, but there is actually a couple reasons you might miss your target.  One would be, just as you say, that the targets were actually too aggressive at the beginning, they weren't realistic, and with the budget that was available, even with all due diligence, it simply wasn't possible to hit the target, and that's one reason you might miss the target; would you agree with that?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, it seems to me another possibility -- and it might differ from program to program, but at least another theoretical possibility is that the company simply didn't do a good enough job; they had the budget there, and they didn't implement their programs properly, there were problems for whatever reason, but the fault really lies with the company; they didn't get the job done; is that another possibility as to why you could miss a target?

MR. DIBAJI:  I think it would be fair to say that, yes, that is one of the possibilities, but it's not our intention to do so.

MR. MILLAR:  Obviously not.  I mean, you always want to hit your target, because you are --


MR. DIBAJI:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- incented to do.  My point is simply there's a couple of reasons why you might not get there, and one of them at least could be that you didn't exercise all due diligence, if I can put it that way.  You didn't get the job done.

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct; there is a variety of reasons.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So is it fair to say then that what your proposal assumes is that it is the former of those two reasons, that the target simply was not realistic from the outset, and it doesn't take into account the fact that you may simply not have done a good enough job in achieving the target.

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, to be fair to you, obviously this is a symmetrical proposal, so if you do very well on a program the target will go up in the next year.

Is it possible that this would provide any disincentive to over-perform?  Like, if you do really well it is going to increase your target.  Now, I recognize you will get a bigger incentive as well, and I'm not familiar with all the puts and takes that you would consider internally at Union, but it at least occurred to us that that might be a disincentive to over-perform, and I'd just like to get your views on that.

MR. DIBAJI:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  If you look at our past performance, even in a formulaic approach, we've tried our best to over-achieve on all of our scorecards and metrics, and that theory would have been applicable in the previous framework where we did our best to achieve our targets as proposed.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

You'll be aware, members of the panel I assume have reviewed the Synapse report, or some of you have anyways.

MR. DIBAJI:  We have.

MR. MILLAR:  And you'll know that Synapse made some comments on this particular element, and without getting into all the details, what Synapse's recommendation was that you shouldn't have a target adjustment mechanism as you proposed; are you familiar with that?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  What is your response to that critique by Synapse?

MR. DIBAJI:  Well, our view is that it's inappropriate to set fixed targets for the next six years based on assumptions that we're currently making today on market uptake, market trends, how the market will respond to the program designs as we've laid them out.  A lot can change over the course of the six years, and without having that formulaic approach to adjust targets on previous performance, we think it's inappropriate to set targets fixed for the next six years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I just wanted to be fair to you, to -- Synapse had written that, and I wanted to get the company's view on that, so thank you for that.

I think I'm going to move on to my next topic.  This one took me a while to write up.  It is a bit complicated, so I will ask you to bear with me.  My associate Ms. Bennett may have to whisper in my ears a couple of times, but the questions relate to again your targets, how you set your target, and also how you construct your target achievement level band structure -- this is the 75, 100, either 125 or 150, depending on what approach you take.  So that's what these questions are about.

Let me start by asking you just some basic questions about how your targets are set, and Ms. Lynch was kind enough to discuss this earlier this morning.  But maybe I could just take you -- I always start with the framework, as I say.  Do you have the framework with you, or perhaps we could pull it up on the screen, and I'm looking at page 10.  This is the EB-2014-0134 report of the Board, demand-side management framework for natural gas distributors.  There we go.  Great.  Thank you very much.

And I'm looking at page 10, and these are just some general principles that I wanted to review, just so we can frame the discussion.

Okay.  So if you look at page 10, in the last paragraph, I guess starting at about the middle of that paragraph or the second-last sentence, it says:

"Further, the annual savings targets should be challenging, yet reasonable, and based on the following:  An undated analysis of the level of
natural gas energy efficiency potential available in Ontario, market opportunities, past DSM program experience, new innovations, and industry capacity to deliver expanded DSM programs."


Do you see that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I assume you were guided by that in how you set your targets; is that fair?

MS. LYNCH:  That's fair, although I will note as we indicate in our evidence, our latest achievable potential study was done in 2008.  We completed the bottom-up approach --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. LYNCH:  -- in assessing what we thought was the potential within this plan.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fair enough.  Thank you.

If you could flip to page 12, the Board speaks on this point again, in fact, I think almost directly to what you were just mentioning, Ms. Lynch.  The paragraph at the top of the page, I don't know, about two sentences in, about the middle of that paragraph, it says:

"The Board expect that the gas utilities will rely on their most recent achievable potential studies, experience to date, and projected market opportunities and constraints to inform the development of their annual and long-term natural gas savings targets."


And I take it that you did follow this guidance as well in establishing your targets?
     MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I would say that's correct.  I would note that while we had our previous achievable potential, we did know at the time of the directive provided and the subsequent framework that an achievable potential study was going to be completed by June of 2016, so therefore expected that that would be a key element that we could consider on a go-forward basis.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay, thank you for that.  So, as I understand it, what you do is you consider all these types of things, and you do what we've been calling a bottom-up analysis and that will get you to a target; is that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, now let's look -- still on page 12, this is where the Board discusses the, I guess, the achievement bands, you might call them.

What the Board says is -- this is at the last full paragraph:
"Three levels of achievement should be provided for in the scorecards for each metric, one at 75, one at 100, and one at 150.”


Do you see that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I want to be clear.  When we talked about that bottom-up analysis, that builds to what the Board calls here the target number, is that right, the 100 percent?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now these achievement bands have a significant impact on your incentive, is that right?

Let me just complete the question then.  If you hit 100 percent of your target, I think you get 40 percent of the maximum allowable incentive.  If you're under 75, I think you get zero.  And if you make it to at least 150 as described in the framework, then you can get your entire allowable incentive; is that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, across all scorecards.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  I know you have to add it all together, but generally that's the idea?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now what you're proposing, actually, is something a little bit different.  Union is proposing that they would be eligible for the maximum allowable incentive at 125 percent of the target, as opposed to the 150 percent as set out in the framework; is that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And a number of parties have asked you questions about this, including Staff, and I want to take you to your response to Staff Interrogatory No. 4.

I'm having some difficulty.  It may be the way that the answer is worded or is presented.  But I'm having some difficulty meshing what we've just discussed with what I see set out -- what I think I see set out in Board Staff interrogatory 4.

We asked you some questions about why this would be appropriate, and if you turn to page 2 of that interrogatory response, just above the table, just above figure 1, you state just above that:
"As outlined in figure 1, if Union had used a 75 percent, 100 percent, 150 percent scorecard design, it would have resulted in lower 75 percent and 100 percent target levels in order to ensure the upper band level was attainable within the available budget."


Do you see that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the source of my confusion -- I think Mr. DeRose was asking about this in the technical conference as well, and I still wasn't quite following it.

When you looked at what you presented in figure 1, it seems to assume that the starting point of the analysis is not the 100 percent, not the target, if I could call it that, but it looks like you start at the upper band target and reverse-engineer both the 100 percent and the 75 percent from there.

Whether you start as a 150 or 125, it seems to me your starting point is not the target, but it's the upper band.

You can help me with that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.  Figure 1 is meant to illustrate the difference.  So when I'm speaking to our -- how we built the target, we've built it assuming the budget amount in a year, and what it would take to achieve the 100 percent target as we've laid it out.

Now, if you assume that we've spent our budget to get to the 100 percent and then, as the framework outlines, we then have the ability to spend 15 percent more to overachieve our target, going from 100 to 150 with a 15 percent available budget, in our view, just -- it isn't a proportional stretch.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's not a realistic possibility; is that a fair way to put it?

MS. LYNCH:  Correct, based on how we've built the budget and target within our plan.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think I understand that.  I don't want to put words in the company's mouth, but you think that 150 is not a realistic target to get to, and that 125 better represents would be within the realm of possibility. Is that a fair assessment, a fair overview?

MS. LYNCH:  It is fair in the sense of the budget available to do that.  And I would note that this is similar to the bands that we've had in our previous framework, where we had 75, 100, 125 with the 15 percent overspend available to achieve between 100 and 125 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand what you're saying there.  The parties may disagree with that analysis, but I understand what your position is.

What I don't understand is how, in both figure 1 and then table 1 on the next page, but we can -- actually can we turn to table 1 on the next page?  It shows the same sort of thing, and I think it's meant to be another illustration of how the target, the lower band and the upper band, would move based on whether you were using the 125 percent upper band, or the 150 percent upper band; is that fair?

MS. LYNCH:  It's fair, because we're assuming that we have the budget plus 15 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Right, and again what puzzles me is the upper band number stays fixed, and then it is the target number, and then I guess the lower band that's switched, where as I would have thought you build to the target, which is 100 percent, and then you calculate the upper band and lower band from there.


Whether the upper band is 125 or 150, I would have thought you still would have used the target to calculate that.  So what am I missing here?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, it is meant to be illustrative to say, based on the budget and the target that we have.  So in doing this illustration, we maintained the upper band as we have -- would -- have proposed in this, based on the 125, and then said if you were to say this is the budget that we have available, how would we need to allocate that differently in what we need to achieve the target number band.  That's where you get to the differences in the budget.

MR. MILLAR:  The top table -- I guess the table on table 1, that's taken straight out of the application, right?  That's your resource acquisition targets?  Those are the actual numbers from the application?

MS. LYNCH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the one below is just an illustration you've done using 150?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, using it as what our 150 would be within the plan we -- what the upper band would be within the plan we propose.

MR. MILLAR:  If you've answered this, I apologize.  Math is not my strong point, but I would have thought that to figure out what the 150 percent upper band would be, you would take the 110 million m-cubes that are your target and multiply that by 1.5.

But you've actually done it the other way.  You've started with the upper band and, I guess, you've reverse engineered the target.  Have I got that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, because we've done it with the assumption of the budget that's available.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I do understand what's happened, how you've done it.  So thank you for that.

What I do want to confirm though is, when we first looked at this, we thought we had been mistaken all along and you had done your bottom-up analysis to build to the upper target.

But can you confirm for me that is not correct?  You do the bottom-up analysis to get to the 100 percent figure; is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I took something else from both figure 1 and table 1, I was mistaken based on the explanation you have just provided?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, why don't we move on.  I have some questions about input assumptions and changes to input assumptions.

I don't know if I'll actually take you to anything you wrote here, but I guess our starting point for these questions was GEC interrogatory 31.  It might be helpful just to have that handy.


Okay.  Let me back up a little bit just to frame the issue a little bit with some very basic stuff.

Under your proposal there will be an annual EM&V process, evaluation, measurement, and audit process?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And one of the outcomes from that process can be changes to input assumptions; let's just take measure lives for an example.  That's a possibility from the EM&V review?

MS. LYNCH:  Certainly through our evaluation work, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I just have some questions about how and when those changes to input assumptions will be applied under your proposal, and for me the easiest way to go about this is to give you an example, and let's walk through it and you can tell me how it would work.

Okay.  Let's use the year 2016 as an example, so 2016 comes, you do your programs in 2016.  At the end of 2016 you would have your EM&V process for that year's programs; is that right?  You would do your evaluation?

MS. LYNCH:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry, it is 2016, you do whatever programs are in your plan, 2016 ends, then you would do your EM&V process for those 2016 programs; is that right?  You do it at the end of the year, or after the year is over.

MS. LYNCH:  For the audit process.  I mean, certainly there is verification work that we start during the year.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

MS. LYNCH:  And continues on, verification, and the audit process would then take place in 2017.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the audit process takes place at the end.  Some of the other work would be ongoing before that, the verification --


MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so let's imagine that through the audit process there's a determination that one of the input assumptions you used was incorrect.  Again, let's say it was a measure life, it was either too long, too short, what-have-you, that there is a conclusion that you were using the wrong number in 2016, okay?  So in my example, I just want to understand when you would look to apply the updates to the input assumptions, so let's start with the LRAM, the lost revenue adjustment mechanism.

If your audit that's conducted in 2017 but is done for 2016 determines that you had an input assumption was wrong, would you apply those results to the 2016 LRAM or would you not?

MR. DIBAJI:  We would.

MR. MILLAR:  You would, okay, and how about for the incentive for 2016?

MR. DIBAJI:  In our proposal we are proposing not to apply to the incentive and to carry that forward to set the following year's targets.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would use it starting in 2017.

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And is that your current practice?

MR. DIBAJI:  Under the 2012-2014 framework, no, that is not our current practice, but that was the practice that we followed under the generic framework.

MR. MILLAR:  What is your current practice?  Is it to apply the updates for the incentive to 2016, in my example?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  I actually don't -- I'm not necessarily challenging you on that here, I just wanted to make sure we understood the company's position.  So thank you for that.  Well, why don't I challenge you while we're here.  Just kidding.

Why don't you tell me why you've changed your mind on that?  Why was it appropriate in the previous framework, but you've decided a change is appropriate?

MR. DIBAJI:  Yeah, so we've never really changed our mind on this process.  As I said, it is a process that we followed under the generic framework that we followed.  That was the proposal we had in the 2012-2014 framework when we provided our comments on that framework that also consistent with the comments we had with regards to the 2015-2020 framework, so we maintained the same mindset with regards to the application of changes due to evaluation.

The reason why we are proposing this again, in our review of leading jurisdictions, as we mentioned in our plan, 81 percent of leading jurisdictions in the U.S.A. follow this policy, including the number-one-ranked energy-efficient state, Massachusetts, who recently changed their policy to go to a forward-looking update to their input assumptions, and we feel that's appropriate for us to do so also.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, what's the rationale for applying the change in an input assumption to the LRAM but not to the incentive?  What's the distinction there?

MS. LYNCH:  The important distinction for LRAM is that it's -- it is -- it's a lost revenue adjustment mechanism, so using the best available information accounts for what lost revenue you would have expected as a result of your program.

However, when you're looking at it from an incentive perspective, it is the equivalent of changing the goal posts, so we could go through a program year based on assumptions and targets that have all been agreed to upfront, and a piece of information can come to us six months post that program year being completed, after -- so when our audit is being done, and we are told retroactively that our earnings would have changed as a result of something we could not have reasonably known at the time when we delivered the program.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, is it fair to say there's two parties who could bear the risk for that sort of thing?  One would be the utility and one would be the ratepayers, and as I see it, you are proposing that ratepayers bear the risk for that.

MS. LYNCH:  I wouldn't say that in the sense that when we have a plan that's done upfront and we are doing what is expected with good intentions, I think we want to promote that we do have the best available information at any time and that applying that on a go-forward basis is a reasonable approach --


MR. MILLAR:  But you are not actually proposing to use the best available information; right?  You are proposing to ignore the best information in the year that it happened and apply it in the next year.

MS. LYNCH:  Well, I would say that the information that was used to set our target is the same information that's used to assess our achievement, so we are just looking for consistency in that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I have your answer.  Thank you very much.

Let's move to residential behavioural programs, if we could.  I think the best place to start off would be, there's a couple of School's interrogatories, 31 and 32.  Maybe we could start with School's 31.  I think this is just -- this captures a lot of the information that I'll be referring to.

So just to take a step back, residential behavioural programs, this is a new program; is that right?

MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And these are reports that are prepared and given to residential ratepayers that -- well, why don't you tell me what it is in 30 words or less?

MS. BROOKS:  It's an offering that is put out there to help influence the behaviours and modifications of the behaviours in a residential home, and the program would be designed to deliver four reports throughout the heating season to those customers to help influence those behavioural changes.

MR. MILLAR:  And those reports, I believe you don't have a vendor yet, but whoever it is doesn't actually go to the customer's home, right?  This is just done from the data of their usage?

MS. BROOKS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. MILLAR:  You don't have a vendor yet, but when do you, will the vendor go to the consumer's home to get this type of data, or is this just the raw consumption data that Union will provide to the vendor?

MS. BROOKS:  It would be consumption data, as well --Union has put in their evidence that we are looking to purchase MPAC information, so this is information on the actual customer's home in order to help ensure that the information we're providing customers is comparable to like neighbours to give them comprehensive information about their behavioural modifications.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

And your proposed budget for this program is about $2.9 million annually; is that right?  I think you can actually see that on page 2 of the School's interrogatory.  I think that the total budget is 14.3 million, by my rough math.  If you divide that over the term of the plan that's about $2.9 million; would you take that subject to check?

MS. BROOKS:  Subject to check, I believe our cost in our first year is slightly lower, as we will only have time to send out two reports versus the four we will be doing on an annual basis moving forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is the $14.3 million that we see in that interrogatory response correct for the entire term of the plan?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, feel free to take this subject to check, or actually do the math if you like, but as -- assuming $2.9 million per average per year, that's something like 6 percent of your annual budget.  Do you accept that, subject to check?


MR. DIBAJI:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, it is illustrative.  If I'm off by even a whole percentage point, I don't think it matters much for the purpose my questions.  So let's use 6 percent, subject to check.


Now if you look at the page you have before you right now, Mr. Shepherd or Schools asked you about the cost of various programs, including this behavioural program.


And if you look at the very bottom on the cost per cumulative cubic metre, we have 87.6 cents; do you see that?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say that that doesn't compare very favourably with the results you're getting from many of your other programs?


MS. BROOKS:  I would agree that it's not as cost effective.  However, we would also like to note that in our evidence, we are anticipating to use a behavioural platform to help cross-promote our home reno rebate and our ESK program.


So if you break it down to the offering level, the cost effectiveness varies.  However, we would say there is a connection between all of our residential programs, and an overall portfolio -- or excuse me, on a program level, we are being cost effective in the residential sector.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I am not disputing that right now.


But first, you said that the program is not as cost effective.  It is actually not cost effective at all, is it?  It is below the TRC plus test, it does not meet the TRC plus test?


MS. BROOKS:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You stated that there may be some other benefits, for example, I guess you hope to use this -- I forget the exact words you used, but it will serve as a platform that may encourage people to look at other DSM programs, that type of thing.


MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Why weren't you able to quantify that, or even give a guess as to what those benefits might be?  That doesn't appear on your scorecard, or anything like that, does it?


MS. BROOKS:  So the benefits that we would realize from the cross promotion of the behavioural platform was an input into the overall targets that we set for other offerings.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So absent this program, your results, or savings, or what have you from some of your other programs would be adjusted downwards?  Is that what I heard you just say?


Like, that was an input in how you set either the target, or results, or something like that for your other programs?


MS. BROOKS:  I would say that the target build-up for those programs had the assumption that the behavioural platform would be available to us.


MR. MILLAR:  I won't ask you to do work you haven't done, but to the extent that the impact of the behavioural program is reflected as an input that somehow changes the numbers and -- could we use -- would the home reno rebate be an example of something you would hope that the behavioural program would lead to more uptake in?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we could use that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if we looked at all your numbers there, I guess your suggestion is -- I'm not sure if you're hopeful that it will lead to more uptake there, or you've actually already accounted for additional uptake in the home reno program from behavioural programs.  Which of the two is it?


MS. BROOKS:  I wouldn't say that we had a specific uplift percentage that we used based specifically on behavioural.  We looked at many factors when developing our targets, and the behavioural platform was just one of many factors that we considered when developing our overall home reno rebate programs.


MR. MILLAR:  So it may have been a matter more of judgment than inputting a .05 uplift, or something like that?


MS. BROOKS:  Correct, and as we note in our evidence, we relied heavily on other jurisdictions to directionally inform our home reno rebate program, and our understanding is many of the comparable jurisdictions we used also had a behavioural platform available to them as well.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, speaking of other jurisdictions, you raise the example of Massachusetts before.  And I'm sure you've had a look at Synapse's report, and they do your program, your behavioural program.


I don't know that you need to turn it up, but it's page 72 of the report where they actually discuss their recommendations.


First, they note that in Massachusetts, they only spend about 1.5 percent of their total annual budget on this type of project.  You've read that, I take it?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I have.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, despite the relatively high cost of this program, at least as compared to the results that you're predicting under behavioural, is this program really worth it?  Would this money be better spent elsewhere?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. BROOKS:  When looking at our overall portfolio, including our residential program, we were trying to balance the various guiding principles and key priorities that the Board put forward to us, one of them being broad participation.  So if we look at a residential portfolio, our behavioural platform is aiming to reach 300,000 of our customers.  So it had the broadest access amongst all of the offerings within the residential portfolio.


I would also state it directly meets key priority E, where the Board has asked the utilities to design programs that are evidence-based and rely on detailed customer data.  So when looking at our overall portfolio, we were trying to balance those needs.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I'll move on.  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions on bill financing.  I think maybe others may cover this in greater detail, but let's just do this quickly, hopefully, if we could.


First of all, just to give us some background, it is one of the positions, if I can call it that, in the framework that on-bill financing is a good idea and should be looked at.  However, Union is not proposing to do any on-bill financing, is that right?


MS. LYNCH:  Correct, we are not proposing to do on-bill financing.  I will note that as we looked at the key priority, we looked at development of new and innovative programs, including the flexibility to offer on-bill financing.


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  In fact a number of parties asked you about this, and you provided your reasons for being reluctant to offer such a program.  I'm not going to ask you about those directly, but just so the record is complete, you have responded to questions as to why you don't want to do that; is that fair?


MS. LYNCH:  That's fair.


MR. MILLAR:  All right.  I wanted to explore with you if you had looked at or considered -- it seems to Staff there are a number of different forms on-bill financing could take; would you accept that?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I would accept that.


MR. MILLAR:  And one of them is essentially to have the utility act sort of the bank, essentially; to loan the consumer money to purchase whatever and then, over time, they repay that amount through their bill, presumably either at a lower interest rate or even no interest rate.


But that's one of the models you could use; is that fair?


MS. LYNCH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I take you don't want to use that model; you've explained why this is a bad idea for Union.


MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we have not proposed that model.


MR. MILLAR:  In fact, you have not proposed any model.  But when we asked but it, you gave us reasons as to why that would be a bad approach.


MS. LYNCH:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But there are some other alternatives as well.  What about, for example, just allowing a third-party access to the bill -- say a bank, for example -- whereby they could simply use your billing platform as a convenient way to allow for repayment of a loan for an energy efficiency purchase.


Did you look at something like that?


MS. LYNCH:  We didn't, in that that's not something that we currently do.  So we weren't considering that in this context.


We looked at this from the perspective of we didn't see it is addressing the key barrier that we see for customers in participating in energy efficiency programs.


MR. MILLAR:  So from your end, it is not so much the technical difficulties or the cost of the program; it is more that you don't think it will help at the end of the day?


MS. LYNCH:  I don't think that it will have a significant impact on results.  I believe that there are other avenues, other financial opportunities that customers can use.


Certainly when we heard from customers in our research is that there is a strong preference for incentives as opposed to a financing opportunity.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I asked you why you didn't look at letting a bank use your bill, and I guess that's the answer.


MS. LYNCH:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Similarly, maybe the same answer, but are you familiar with something called a revolving fund?  Do you know what that is?  I didn't, but maybe you did.


MS. LYNCH:  I believe I'm familiar with the concept, but if you'd like to --


MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, let me -- I had planned to provide copies of this, but since I was caught, I had to go before I thought, I wasn't ready.  I'm going to read you something from the Conservation First framework.  This -- if you want to take time to think about it, that's all fine with me.  I don't think there is anything controversial here.  It is just a definition of what a revolving fund is, so I wanted to put that to you, and this document states:

"The province can explore a revolving-fund concept to help finance energy-efficiency retrofits for residential and business consumers.  Revolving funds, unlike grants or incentives, self-replenish by using repayment for subsequent financing.  Based on experience in other jurisdictions and sectors, revolving funds can unlock private capital and accelerate growth by demonstrating successful investment strategies to the conservation sector."


When I read that actually that still didn't quite make too much sense to me, but how I understand it and how I'll put to you is that a program like that would work is there would be a fund of whatever amount, be it 1 million, 2 million, 5 million.  That money would be available for loans to people for whatever -- whatever energy-efficiency retrofits that were eligible for that.


And then to the extent there were losses for that, the utility wouldn't be at risk any further.  It would just come out of that $5 million, you couldn't actually be at risk for bad debts beyond that.  Does what I say make sense?  Does that match your understanding of what a revolving fund is?  Or if I've got that wrong, please tell me.


MS. LYNCH:  I believe it does.  It's the -- I think of it as the idea of, is there is a pot of fund -- a pot available.  To the extent that people use it, the pot goes down, as they repay, the pot goes back up, and it just continues.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you've explained it much better than I have, so thank you.


Did you consider that type of alternative?  And if not, why not?


MS. LYNCH:  We -- I guess to the extent we thought about the concept, it just doesn't, to me -- it's not any different than just conceptually the idea of on-bill financing or I don't see it addressing the barrier any better than any other financing option would, so it takes me back to, our view is that there are other things, because again, there would still be administration costs and those elements that we would have to account for, so our view is that spending more of an emphasis on incentives will be better value.


I will note that we have talked in our evidence about looking at approaches for enabling financing, so ensuring that customers are educated on the opportunities that they have before them, speaking with financial institutions to see what opportunities there may be there, but those are ways that financing could certainly be enabled but not required to be on-bill.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think Mr. Elson may cover this further, so I'll leave that there.


We're getting close to the end here.  Some questions on your custom programs, your custom offerings.  We'd asked you a bit about this in the technical conference, and I just wanted to follow up on a couple of things.


Your custom offerings, just again to frame the discussion, could somebody give me a 30-second description of what those are?


MR. GOULDEN:  Custom offerings are offerings available to commercial and industrial customers, whereby a specific application for conservation or energy savings that the customer is proposing to do aren't covered by a specific prescripted program.  So they allow wider latitude, and by definition they are somewhat unique.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I had asked you, you may recall, at the technical conference, some questions about a payback period for these types of programs.  So just so I'm clear, by "payback period" I mean the amount of time that a particular measure would take to pay for itself.  You're familiar that term, I take it?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that, all other things being -- and you know where I'm going about this.  We're exploring how this impacts free ridership rates.


First of all, Union -- there are no specific payback-period parameters that Union is proposing for this program; right?  In theory it could have a payback of one day and that wouldn't eliminate it from consideration as a program?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so let me walk through this.


All other things being equal, would you agree with me that if a commercial or industrial customer is looking to improve its energy efficiency, they're more likely to approach it with a short payback period than one with a long payback period?


MR. GOULDEN:  All other things being equal, but that's very rarely the case, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough, and I'm happy to have your complete answer on all this.  We want to make sure we get it right.


But one of the things that you try to minimize in the design of your custom offerings would be free riders; right?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, I think your mic was off.


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that, based on what we just said, all else being equal, a program with a short payback period is more likely to attract free riders than a program with a longer payback period?


MR. GOULDEN:  No, I wouldn't agree in the custom market.


MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?


MR. GOULDEN:  Why would I not agree?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. GOULDEN:  Because the two are not directly linked.  Perhaps I could turn you to our response to topic 5, Staff number 16.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.


MR. GOULDEN:  What we indicated in our response there, Mr. Millar, is it is one of many factors that affect a customer's decision to go forward with a project, but there is lots of other factors.  And maybe let me just give you a really quick sort of example.


With regards to customers' decisions, especially industrial and commercial customers' decisions to go forward with DSM-type projects, the other considerations they have are around budget constraints, around productivity goals and standards, around timing constraints, and around ultimately operational prioritization.  Lots of our customers, especially our industrial customers, they quite frankly need our help to identify energy inefficiency because their job is making widgets, so consequently all of those other factors are just as important as payback when it comes to why they might or not -- why they might go forward or not go forward with a specific energy-saving project --


MR. MILLAR:  Well --


MR. GOULDEN:  -- it is not as simple as, yes, there is a better payback, therefore I'm going to go ahead.  They may not have the money; they may not have the time.  They may not -- with regards to their pending plant shutdown, they may not have the opportunity to actually put that on the list of things to do in the five days that they're shut down.


MR. MILLAR:  Well --


MR. GOULDEN:  That's bigger than just payback.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't dispute that, and to be clear, I wasn't suggesting that payback period is the only factor.  I was suggesting that it is a factor; would you at least agree with that?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't I just take you to -- you will be familiar that Synapse discussed this issue in its report.  Have you reviewed that?  I think it's around page 47, yeah.  Page 46, 47.


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. MILLAR:  And you've reviewed this before, I take it?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And you will see at the bottom of page 46 they provide a recommendation, given the payback thresholds, for the example, programs are also mainly for custom CNI projects, a threshold of one to three years may be appropriate.


You'll see on table 16 at the top of the next page they give some examples from other jurisdictions where that is one of the screening methods, I suppose I could say, that they use to -- I guess in a hope of minimizing free riders.


So why don't I put it to you:  What is your response to Synapse's evidence on that topic?


MR. GOULDEN:  My response is I don't think a minimum threshold is appropriate, for the reasons I previously described.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So nothing to add from what you've already said?


MR. GOULDEN:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


I'll ask you to answer this as best you can.  If you were to apply a payback period screen, and let's just say for example one to three years, as suggested by Synapse, do you have a sense of what that would do to either your participant numbers or your budget or anything like that?  Would you expect it would have much of an impact?


MR. GOULDEN:  We would potentially do less projects.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. GOULDEN:  And we would potentially have budget available to do other projects, and our target would go down.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Okay, I'm going to move on to one quick bonus issue that is late-breaking and just before my eyes, which will only take a moment and then I'll be finished.

Some question about market transformation –- I don't have all the references in front of me, but I think you'll be very familiar with this.  I just want to confirm that you proposed to discontinue your residential new construction program after 2016; is that correct?

MS. BROOKS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I understand the reason for that, it is because we're expecting changes to the Ontario billing code at that time; is that right?

MS. BROOKS:  I think as we noted in Exhibit A, tab 3, appendix A, page 105, that there is an anticipated building code changing.  However, in our experience, we have -- we understand that there has sometimes been delays on when that will come to fruition.  So we are concerned that we are not sure when exactly that will be implemented within Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  Just because -- let's say the new building code came out last year, or something like that.  That wouldn't prevent you from doing a residential new construction program, right?  You could just up the standards, I guess, so they would be above the building code?  Like the existence of a new building code doesn't prevent you from doing residential new construction programs; is that fair?

[Witness panel confers].

MS. BROOKS:  It's really based on the structure of the program and the timing of the program, and that the program is based on the building code standards and when that would actually be implemented to builders.

MR. MILLAR:  What's the harm in keeping the budget number there past 2016, first of all, since you're not actually sure if it will -- that the new building code will be in effect in 2016?  And even if there was a new building code, my presumption is that you could design a new program that would offer savings beyond the base set in the new building code.

MS. BROOKS:  I think one of the challenges that we would be facing would be how to properly structure our targets, if we are not sure which building code our program is working against.

MR. MILLAR:  I left out commercial new build, but it would be the same reasons for that, is that right?  Is there anything different about commercial for starting a new --


MS. BROOKS:  We don't have an existing commercial new build program in our portfolio.

MR. MILLAR:  But and if it is suggested by Synapse, I think, and maybe Board Staff that maybe you should, you said no, and I think it was the same reason, you don't have one currently and you don't know what the new building code will say.

MS. BROOKS:  We did review a new commercial construction program for this portfolio, and based on various reasons, including the building code concern, we did not put one forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, I think I'll leave it at that.  Thank you very much, panel, those are my questions.

MR. GOULDEN:  Mr. Millar, sorry, I should be a little bit more complete with regards to history.

So what Ms. Brooks was talking about was going-forward in terms of what we're proposing.  But we do actually cover some new construction projects as part of the custom portfolio.

So we do deal with some of them on a custom basis.  But what Ms. Brooks was talking about is going forward, do we propose a specific program, and we don't.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.

MS. LONG:  You're finished, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  For the purposes of scheduling the rest of the afternoon, I'd like to know who is prepared to proceed to cross-examine panel 2 this afternoon.  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I put up my hand, and saw that no one else did.  Yes, I'm prepared to go.

MS. LONG:  How long do you think you'll be?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I expect it will be in the range of 20 or 30 minutes.

MR. GARDNER:  Good afternoon, Matt Gardner for LIEN and I expect to be 10 to 20.  I'm not very good at estimating, but it should be no more than 20.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Gardner.  Is that it?  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Madam Chair, I had expected to go tomorrow and I was going to put in a bit of a compendium.

So I have a question for our friends at Union.  Does Ms. Shaw have the Enbridge IR responses available to her also for display?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, she does.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, again I might have to cobble mine together, somewhat like Mr. Millar.  But to be helpful and of assistance to the Board, I would be prepared to go, as long as I could draw on Enbridge's IRs also.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We're going to take a break now and then we'll come back and continue with the cross-examination.

I would like to say at the outset, that Board Staff has put together a fairly comprehensive timetable for the 13 days that we have.  However, that does not mean if you're scheduled for a certain time that you should presume that you're going to go at that time.

I fully expect that, as we've seen today, the schedule has collapsed a bit and there is some availability to use hearing time.  So I want parties, on a go-forward basis, to be prepared to go.

So, this is day 1 of the hearing, but on a go-forward basis, I really do want people to be ready to go because, like we've seen today, things do have a way of turning out that we have extra time.  And we're prepared to sit today until 5:00, so I don't want to waste that time.

So, Mr. Quinn, if you can go --


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I will.

MS. LONG:  That would be much appreciated.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:18 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:38 p.m.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Buonaguro?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel, my name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.  I have some questions for you.  And somebody looked around like, He got it right this time.


I would like to start with a brief discussion about combined heat and power applications and the role -- or you might consider non-role in DSM, at least as it currently stands.


The issue of the availability of combined heat and power type programs, specifically for greenhouse growers, has come up already in the hearing, and particularly in the technical conference, and originally when I'd looked at the technical conference transcript there seemed to be some room for it, but I want to make -- I think that's maybe not the case based on other things, so I wanted to just go through a couple things in the transcript.


So I'm looking at the technical conference transcript Volume 2, which was Union's day, and I'm looking at page 5.  Or -- yes, page 5.


MR. GOULDEN:  I have that, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then starting at line 22, Mr. Quinn was asking you some questions, and he said:

"Okay, so more direct question then:  To the extent that growers are interested in combined heat and power applications, Union would be able to serve them through the DSM program for custom projects.

"Mr. Goulden:  We could certainly provide technical for those customers.

"Mr. Quinn:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  Thank you."


And I had the same impression when I read it.  It sounds great, but then as I read on, and going over two pages, the discussion progresses, and at page 7, at line 13, and this is all in the context of combined heat and power type applications, Ms. Lynch says:

"Mr. Quinn, just for clarity, when you say 'congestion', are you speaking in reference to CDM  programs?

"Mr. Quinn:  We're talking in terms of electricity transmission congestion that warrants the potential need for significant investment in electricity infrastructure which may be able to be avoided through targeted placement of CHP in something like a greenhouse sector.

"Ms. Lynch:  Our expectation would be that that would be dealt with as a CDM program, and certainly to the extent that we could support that with technical knowledge, we could certainly do that."


So the particulars in combination, and my conclusion is, one, Union is all for combined heat and power, Union is available to customers to help them with combined heat and power.  However, in the context of a DSM program that you're putting forward today at least into the near future, it doesn't sound to me like it's actually part of the portfolio; is that fair?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. GOULDEN:  Perhaps this will help you, Mr. Buonaguro.  We do provide technical support with regards to CHP programs.  We don't currently provide financial incentives for standard CHP.  We are prepared to -- and I'll get to that in a second, but we are prepared to look at, on a custom basis, enhanced efficiency CHP and the potential for incentives around that.


So let me maybe give you just a bit of an example if that would be helpful.  So with regards to CHP type applications, especially for smaller type units, they would typically be a reciprocating engine type package that you could buy.  We don't provide any financial incentives with respect to a standard package that you could buy.  We do provide lots of technical support.  We want to make it such that our customers can in fact come up with a way to see if this works for them, and we are prepared to explore potential enhancements to, if you will, to that standard package, which might be higher efficiency, which might warrant actually providing a DSM funding incentive.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much, that is very helpful.


Just so I can explore that a little bit, when you're talking about the enhancements -- and from what I know about the structure of -- in this case we'd be talking about the commercial-industrial program, and specifically custom projects program, I'm assuming; is that right?


MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So we're talking about taking a combined heat and power application which, I guess broadly speaking, in particular, in the context of greenhouse growers means taking your existing gas use which is used for generating heat and finding a way to generate electricity with it.  It sounds like you'd help them with the project to do that, but in terms of turning it into a DSM program where they are actually earning a customer incentive and then through that the company would be earning a shareholder incentive, you would be working on increasing the efficiency of the gas use of that particular new application and therefore generating gas savings?  Is that the DSM aspect that's at least a potential?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, so without getting too techno (sic) on everyone in the room, with regards to the assumption we would make about the base case in that application, the base case would be the package CHP unit you could buy today.


The potential enhancement would be, what if I buy enhanced heat recovery?  What if I do something that's above what I could buy as a standard unit?  And that might be eligible as a gas conservation DSM-type project, because it's in fact saving gas from the base case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  So that's very helpful.  There is that initial question, though, I think I have, which is, what about that first case where someone is taking -- they're using their gas for heat generation, like all greenhouses do, in the Union territory, and they want some help actually just -- the step from a heat-only application to a heat and electricity application.  There is no DSM funding available for that through incentives and such.  I assume that's because that alone -- and I think there is a JC interrogatory that brings this out -- that alone doesn't actually create "decreased gas consumption".  It doesn't provide gas savings on a standalone basis, and that's the basis for the custom projects?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, so the challenge, of course, with CHP is you're effectively blending energies, if you will, which is why I was -- I tried to be careful in my references to base case, because on its face CHP is, in fact, a gas -- there would be an increase in gas load, so we want to -- we want to look at and we want to be rigorous in how we apply the DSM fundamentals such that there is actually a savings relative to that base case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if I could explore the potential here, though, it seemed to me, and perhaps you'd agree or disagree, that there is some potential within the existing DSM framework now and certainly in the future, where we might go beyond simply looking at gas savings and looking at more efficient use of gas in the sense that in this case a greenhouse would be using the same or more gas, but using it much more efficiently on the whole, which I think is the theme in some of the evidence that's before you.


Is that what's meant -- and I'm going to tie in your talks about collaborating with LDCs in terms of coming up with CDM type incentives for having companies like Union participate in that first step, which is converting to electricity generation through a combined heat and power application?


MR. GOULDEN:  So with regards to your question, Mr. Buonaguro, I think what you were asking -- or what I heard you ask was:  What's the -- what's the role that a CDM program can play versus a gas DSM program and the LDCs, of course, who offer the CDM programs.


We think there is sort of space for both of them to play, but we think the primary driver for this type of an application should probably be CDM, although we certainly want to see what -- we want to explore what part we can play, and, you know, to the extent we can -- in all circumstances, we're certainly prepared to continue to provide technical support.  We're just -- we are struggling a little bit to determine the CDM, DSM sort of role and how all that works.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I presume that's the type of issue that you're collaborating on, or intend to collaborate on with LDCs?

MS. LYNCH:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much for that.  I'm going to change topics, and I'm going to start with -- this is -- I'm looking at Exhibit A, tab 3 of the application, page 6, which is, I assume, a useful way of looking at the total DSM plant budget.  I'll just wait for that to come up on the screen.

That's it, table 2 and I'm going to ask a series of questions and I just want to understand -- well, first of all, this is the budget and this is essentially what you're asking approval for, in terms of spending over the next 20 years when it comes to programs and then they're related portfolio budgets; correct?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct, through 2020.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there are a lot IRs and technical conference references.   Are there any material changes to this, just for reference sake?  I'm just going to use this anyway, but if there is any material changes I should know about --


MR. DIBAJI:  No, there are not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm going to use the 2020 column because I'm -- later on, I'm going to go look at the rate impacts and I think the rate impacts are based on to the 2020 budget for illustrative purposes.  Okay?

So, I'm looking at -- well, first of all, the Board's guidelines talk about the ability of the company to shift up to 30 percent of the program spending around, and that up to 30 percent, you don't need to say anything in particular to the Board or to intervenors.  But if you go over 30 percent, that's when something has to be said; is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I just want to understand how that works with a concrete example, because I didn't see anything in interrogatory that did that, unless I'm mistaken.

So I look at 2020, we have a series of program budgets.  I'm going to tell you what I assume it means, and then you can tell me if I'm wrong.  It doesn't mean I put a tonne of thought in it, but I just want to have somewhere to start for you to tell me if I'm wrong or right.

So if we look at the program subtotal of $53.899 million for 2020, I assume that we are talking about 30 percent of that number can be shifted around; is that right?

MR. DIBAJI:  It's 30 percent of each program's total budget, not the overall total program budget.  So each individual programs -- like residential, commercial, performance-based -- has a total budget associated with it, and it's within that budget can that you can transfer 30 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, you say within that -- that's look at that.  That's helpful already, so if we look at the total residential budget of 17.845 million for 2020, you are saying that you could shift 30 percent of that, which is -- I'm going to do the math on my computer -- that says that 5.3 million of that or so can be shifted outside of the residential program budget.  Is that how it works?

MR. DIBAJI:  Into another program budget.  The one caveat to that is that we propose that we maintain the evaluation budget whole throughout this entire process.  So as is evident, there is an evaluation line item for each program, residential evaluation, commercial industrial evaluation.  We are proposing that we maintain that whole, so if budget is transferred out of one program into another, we are ensuring that the evaluation budget remains whole.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I came up with -- 30 percent of that total budget, I came up with 5.3 million.  You are agreeing with me, but of that 5.3 million of it, none of it can be the evaluation budget -- or at least your intention is that it won't have any -- the evaluation budget of 859 wouldn't be part of that shifted 5.3 million?

MR. DIBAJI:  Yes, that would be outside the evaluation budget, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I'm going to trust that you agreed with me, whatever I said is true.

Now -- and you can do that for every program, or at least -- well let's start from here.  5.3 million for the residential budget; we said that's sort of the maximum that could be shifted outside of the residential budget.

So I'm assuming, for example, you could add (sic) 5.3 million of the residential program and put it into the commercial-industrial program; is that how that works?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does it also mean that you could take -- there is not a lot of big programs there.  You could, in theory, take 30 percent of the performance-based budget and move it to the commercial-industrial program?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you could take 30 percent of the large volume program, which is very small anyway, and move it to the commercial-industrial program?

MR. DIBAJI:  Yeah, large volume -- we maintain that that budget remains whole, but we wouldn't transfer any budget in or out of that program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  The big one is you could move -- really what we're talking about is 30 percent of the residential budget getting moved into the commercial-industrial budget, or vice versa.  That's really the meat of what could happen, at a theoretical level at the highest, based on the Board's guidelines and based on your actual budgets.

MR. DIBAJI:  That's our understanding, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Within the commercial-industrial program -- and you can see I'm mostly concerned with the commercial-industrial program -- we start with a budget of 19.222 million in total, right?  Do you see that?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we talked about sort of a maximum movement, and I'm going to pay $5 million.  So the guidelines, when we talk about the 30 percent shifting and based on the realities of your program budgets, we're talking about just over $5 million in theory could be moved from the residential budget into the commercial-industrial program in any particular year, assuming sort of constant budgets across the board?

MR. DIBAJI:  In theory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And with -- so let's say that happened, and you had 19.2 million plus about 5 million, so let's say you bumped up the commercial-industrial program to $26 million -- or sorry, $24 million and change.  Now the commercial-industrial program isn't allocated to one rate class; it is allocated to actually several rate classes, correct?

MR. DIBAJI:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you've budgeted an allocation to each rate class when you've come up with your rating package, right?

MR. DIBAJI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's what's going to be embedded in rates, at least at the start.

MR. DIBAJI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think the guidelines say anything about shifting the allocation between rate classes.  Am I right on that?

MR. DIBAJI:  Not to our understanding, there isn't a requirement at the rate class level.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have, under your proposal, the flexibility not only to shift money out of the residential program into the commercial industrial or vice versa, it seems to me that you're asking for a framework that also leaves you the flexibility to shift money from the rate classes amongst each other differently than what you've proposed in your budget.

MR. DIBAJI:  Just give us one moment there.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. DIBAJI:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It didn't seem to me that there was anything in the guidelines that spoke to this issue, and I don't think there is anything in your application that talks about it either.

Absent that, what's happened is you've come up with a commercial industrial budget program, it's been allocated to the rate classes, you've done a forecast for five years, but we've already established that you actually could take that commercial-industrial program and bump it up by up to $5 million in theory -- I recognize it's in theory -- but then also there's nothing preventing you from reallocating that total budget, which is now $24 million, amongst the rate classes that are participating in the program.


So again, an extreme example, okay?  Right now my understanding is that the commercial industrial rate programs are allocated across all the contract classes, M4, M5, M7, right?


MR. DIBAJI:  And general service.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And general service.  You could shift some or all of that spending on an actual basis to one or two rate classes in theory.  There is nothing in the framework that stops from you doing it and there is nothing in your proposal that stops you from doing it; right?


MR. DIBAJI:  In theory that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we look at Exhibit A, tab 3, appendix E, schedule 1.  So A.3.E, schedule 1.  And I'm looking at page 2 of 2.


MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'm picking a rate class, and I understand there's a complicating factor, which is that you are pooling the contract classes, so put that to the side for a sec.


If we look at DSM program budget, line K, Rate M7.  No, let's do Rate M4, because it's bigger.  So we've got -- right now for 2020 rates are set on the basis of an allocation of $2.85 million worth of DSM program costs; right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But in theory -- and I'm assuming that's all commercial-industrial program costs.  That wouldn't be residential costs, for example, and the low-income costs are dealt with in a separate line item, so that's -- it's not bad.  It is all commercial-industrial programming.


My understanding from what we just talked about is that, not only can that base budget of $18 million go up to $5 million in theory, but also the allocation of that amount amongst the rate classes can also change without restriction, so that in -- depending on what actually happens in 2020, that $2.85 million could balloon quite substantially.


In theory, it could be as high as the entire commercial industrial budget if you increase in -- and only worked in one rate class; is that right?


MR. DIBAJI:  In theory the flexibility exists to, yes, move that, but in reality it would be out of the realm of possibility to move $5 million from residential into just the one rate class in practice.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And how about reallocating the program budget for commercial industrial from four or five rate classes to, say, two or three, in substantially -- I'm assuming that's not -- that's not practical, right?


MR. DIBAJI:  It is certainly not practical.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are going to force me to talk about reality.  That's fine.  What are the real constraints on the reallocation of the budget not only between -- the one we're really concerned about is residential to commercial industrial, vice versa -- and the reallocation of the budget between the existing rate classes as it's set out here?


And the reason I ask is because I was involved in sort of the previous era of DSM, and one of the concerns was that a particular rate class -- and I can't remember which one offhand.  It was one of the contract rate classes, M4, M5 -- it saw a massive increase in programming targeted towards it, relative to what was embedded in rates, which accrued a large amount in the DSM VA, which had to be paid out, and I think partially because of that concern I think there's a settlement agreement that limited the allocation of funds to -- on a rate-class basis to make sure that that sort of rate class by rate class impact as a result of shifting budgets didn't happen again.


So I'm trying to figure out what are the practical limits on shifting between the massive program budgets, the residential, commercial, industrial, and within those budgets between the rate classes.


MR. DIBAJI:  Yes, the practical application would be in the way we've developed our scorecards and set the various metrics.  It wouldn't serve anyone's favour to start moving budget around from one given program to another when we are trying to achieve an overall objective with maximizing our scorecard.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, let me poke at that for a second.


MR. DIBAJI:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably some of your programs get better bang for your buck than others; i.e., where the scorecards are generally dominated by gas savings there are certain programs where a dollar will produce X amount of gas savings and other programs where the gas savings will be Y, and Y is higher than X, so you might at some point be seriously thinking about shifting dollars.  That's why you would reallocate funds in the first place, to reward -- to pursue more successful programs and shed the less successful programs, and that could happen -- that sort of behaviour could happen between the residential and the commercial budgets, and it could also happen between rate classes depending on how the rate classes are receiving programs.


MR. DIBAJI:  Well, in theory again you are talking about practical versus theory.  In theory that is true.  However, our resource acquisition scorecard has a residential home aggregate metric.  That's where this -- sorry -- we have a resource acquisition scorecard that has multiple metrics, one being a home reno rebate metric that has a substantial weighting to it up to 25 percent, so presumably shifting $5 million, as you put it, to the commercial-industrial program to overachieve on that one metric, we would substantially underachieve on the other metric, and again, it wouldn't serve us to do so.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me understand that, because that sounds promising.  I think you're saying that, yes, there's cubic metres to be saved across the board for the most part, but because you've weighted the scorecards and the weighting doesn't change as you shift the budgets around, you get penalized for massive shifting a budget?


MR. DIBAJI:  While the shifting may allow us to be -- allow us to get more results on the one metric, it would also impact us on the other side, so it's a -- it's a, for lack of better words, you would be able to underachieve significantly on that one metric by shifting money from that one program that serves that metric into the commercial-industrial program.  So it's a balanced approach, so although you are trying to pursue programs that are more -- that have more bang for your buck, as you put it, you are moving the budget away from other programs that also have a metric on that scorecard.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, but I want to understand, though.  You seem to be suggesting that the fact of shifting away from what's assumed on the performance metric is itself discouraged because of the weighting, so that even if spending a dollar here saves you one metre cubed and spending a dollar here saves you five, shifting that dollar over to chase the five means that you are getting punished more than you are being benefited for the five.  Is that what you're telling me?


MR. DIBAJI:  I don't know if it's necessarily more or less.  I can't -- I can't quantify it in this process right now because I don't have the information in front of me to do so, but there is a balancing there with the metrics; that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you undertake to explain the balancing mechanic?  Or if it's already in there, tell me where it is.


MR. DIBAJI:  Yeah, we can undertake that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  So that's J1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO EXPLAIN THE BALANCING MECHANIC AND/OR INFORM AS TO WHERE IT IS.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, and I think lastly I'm going to take my theoretical back, if you don't mind, for a minute or two.  So we're in 2020.  The embedded DSM program budget spending for -- and I'm going to use the M4 rate class again -- was 2.8 million.


The actual program spending on that class balloons.  Let's say you added $2 million.  So it's not quite 100 percent increase, but it's in the, like, 70 percent range or something like, 80 percent.


That leaves a sizeable -- and that has consequences, because you're going to allocate more program costs, so that -- sorry, you're going to allocate more -- I can't remember what they're called, more portfolio budget to it as a result; right?  And you are also going to allocate more costs related to the DSM incentive, the shareholder incentive to that, because presumably you are getting more achievement out of that rate class or associated with that rate class, so the DSM VA is going to grow quite large, and it could actually rival what was embedded in rates in the first place.


That's a fair scenario; that could happen.  In that case, we're talking about less than 100 percent increase in the budget.


MR. DIBAJI:  While again that is correct, the benefits also get realized by those same customers in that same rate class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  For those who participate in the program, right?  But there are going to be customers who are now faced with what's paying what's in the DSM VA; right?


MR. DIBAJI:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that for the residential rate classes, when you go to clear the DSM VA, you usually do it through a rider and over a term of time, depending on how large the amount is, correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct, in general service rate classes, deferrals are disposed of prospectively typically over six months.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then for the contract rate classes though, which are the ones I'm primarily interested in, that's not necessarily.  What happens with the contract classes?


MR. TETREAULT:  In the contract rate classes, we will typically do one-time adjustments to either recover or refund any deferral account variances.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I don't have a specific example, but I think in the DSM VA context, that could be a significant one-time payment, relatively speaking, from a rate perspective?


MR. TETREAULT:  It could be potentially, based on the potential size of the variance that we are attempting to clear.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And particularly with my theoretical model?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, why wouldn't you -- or do you offer the ability for these customers to pay off over time, like would you in a general rate classes?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes we do, by default.  The payments or credits are typically done on a one-time basis, as I mentioned.


But we have in the past allowed customers to specifically request different payment terms, if you will, to work to recover those amounts over a longer period of time.


It is something typically that the customer's account manager would work with them on, should the customer request such a thing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that an element of -- is that an exercise of discretion on behalf of Union, or is that considered an available offering to customers who want that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I would consider it an available offering.  As I mentioned, Mr. Buonaguro, when we file deferrals, we propose typically and the Board approves one-time adjustments.


But I would say that Union is always open to other terms with customers, if there's a need on the customer's behalf for something other than a one-time adjustment.


As I mentioned, that is something that has happened in the past.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Gardner, are you ready to proceed?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Gardner:

MR. GARDNER:  I am, thank you.  So I have two areas of questions that are both about low income, not surprisingly.


The first set is about Union's proposed single family home weatherization offering, and the second set is about the multi-residential low-income offering, but specific only to the new demoed to be launched in 2016 private market part of it, not the social-assisted housing part of it.  That's already been in place for a couple of years.


So, the single family low-income program home weatherization, I'll call it, offering; our understanding from the technical conference, and subsequent back and forth with responses from Union to that, is that Union originally proposed to leave behind kitchen and bathroom aerators as opposed to directly install them.


So my first question to Union is -- to the panel is:  Do you agree that directly installing those aerators would, rather than leaving them behind, would actually increase the uptake or the actual percentage of those that would get successfully installed for low-income customers?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we'd agree with that.


MR. GARDNER:  As part of that, is that because built in -- there is a difference, there can be a difference between low-income customers and non-low-income customers, because a lot of the low-income customers are elderly, for example, so less able to actually install, even if it's a fairly simple process, the aerators?


MS. BROOKS:  Potentially, I would say the biggest -- obviously, if somebody is in a home who is paid to install a measure, we are assured that that measure is actually being installed.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Does Union have data on this specifically, direct installs versus self, for that particular measure or other measures like it?


MS. BROOKS:  We would have to confirm that.


MR. GARDNER:  Could we get an undertaking to check?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we can.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO.  J1.7:  UNION TO CONFIRM WHETHER IT HAS DATA ON DIRECT INSTALLS VERSUS SELF OR OTHERS LIKE IT


MR. GARDNER:  So turning to LIEN's interrogatory 6, it is Exhibit B, T 5, Union's response identified the incremental cost of directly installing as opposed to leaving behind for self-install these aerators for kitchens and bathrooms under the single family program or offering.


And Union stated that Union couldn't estimate the cost effectiveness, the TRC PAC or total residential rate impact of directly installing these aerators because of the unknown costs of liability insurance, and the cost of repeat visits.  Is that correct?  Am I characterizing that correctly?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes.


MR. GARDNER:  Then in a response back, I think it was after the technical conference, it is Exhibit JT2.4, page 42 -- I don't know if we need to turn it up, but I'll just explain it.


My understanding is that Union confirmed, after checking with one of its delivery agents in particular, that the agent's current liability insurance should cover direct installation of those aerators as part of the existing liability coverage that's available for installation of other items and getting into the homes of low-income customers; is that correct?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GARDNER:  So given that you have this information now with the liability insurance covering it off, is there a way for Union to estimate TRC or PAC or total residential rate impact -- in other words, cost effectiveness of installing these aerators?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we have.


MR. GARDNER:  Can we get an undertaking for that?


MR. MILLAR:  J1.8.

UNDERTAKING NO.  J1.8:  (A) UNION TO ESTIMATE TRC OR PAC OR TOTAL RESIDENTIAL RATE IMPACT -- IN OTHER WORDS, COST EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTALLING FAUCET AERATORS; (B) UNION TO CONFIRM WHEN IT DOES ITS COST EFFECTIVENESS TEST WHETHER, IN UNION'S VIEW, IT IS COST EFFECTIVE AS PART OF THAT ANALYSIS

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  I guess a follow-up question, and probably an undertaking, is to confirm that once that's done, that the incremental cost increases to directly install these aerators is cost effective, presumably if you are doing the TRC plus test and it meets the 0.7 threshold, it will be.  But if Union could confirm when it does its cost effectiveness test whether, in Union's view, it is cost effective as part of that analysis.


MR. SMITH:  We can do that as part of the same undertaking.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. GARDNER:  So assuming that it is cost effective to directly install these aerators, is that something that Union would be willing to do, that is directly install them rather than leave them behind as part of this suite of offerings?


MS. BROOKS:  I think that Union is definitely open to considering looking at installing them in the market in a controlled fashion.


There are still some concerns, in terms of fully understanding customer call-backs and things of that nature based on installing the measures.  But in a controlled fashion, I think Union would be open to considering that option.


MR. GARDNER:  Because it's the cost of repeat visits that is the unknown?


MS. BROOKS:  Correct.


MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  So shifting to halfway through, the private market multi-residential program.  So LIEN doesn't have this information specifically.  I don't know if Union does, and perhaps they don't.


But do you know what percentage within your territory total low-income households are in the private rental, multi-res market?  When I say "households", I suppose I mean units, rental units.


MS. BROOKS:  Based on our understanding of the market, we have a sense of what's private versus social housing, but we don't have numbers.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  How definitive -- or can you put a number to the sense within a range or something to that effect, not holding you to a specific?


MS. BROOKS:  I think we could provide you with numbers, with caveats around how we've come up with those assumed numbers.


MR. GARDNER:  Fine.  If we could get an undertaking for that, please.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO PROVIDE NUMBERS WITH CAVEATS AROUND HOW THOSE NUMBERS WERE ARRIVED AT.


MR. GARDNER:  That would be helpful.  Thank you.


So our understanding from the technical conference discussions that Union confirmed it only has a small percentage of multi-residential private-market buildings for low-income tenants that would have hydraulic hot-water heating, so we understand that the equivalent that Enbridge is proposing, these Novatherm heat reflectors, as a primary measure for the multi-res low-income private-market tenants is not one that Union could offer, so is there one that -- and perhaps I'm repeating what I was asking in the technical conference, but has Union given any more thought to what a primary equivalent measure might be to improve the comfort of low-income tenants in the multi-res situation?


MS. BROOKS:  I think this is an area that Union has been exploring over time and is certainly willing to continue to explore over time.  It definitely is a challenge to find those types of measures that at a unit basis would provide customers with direct benefits, which is one of the reasons that this program, in particular, has been such a lagger in the market, is trying to figure out how do we actually quantify those direct and indirect benefits.


So Union is definitely open to continue to explore what types of measures we could put into our units, but at this time we don't have a concrete solution for that.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So if I may take you through sort of the list, my understanding from the application, and I think you repeat it in a response to Board Staff's IR 20 -- it is Exhibit B, T5 -- and we don't need to turn it up, but your list, it looks like there is -- potential list could be new boilers, makeup air units, building-envelope projects such as new windows, air sealing, you know, weather stripping, caulking, that type of thing, upgraded insulation and wall cladding, so of these measures which do you see being more likely to be implemented as sort of the primary measure that you'd look at when you're speaking with building owners under the low-income multi-res program?


MS. BROOKS:  I don't think we can concretely say what measure would be most prevalent.  We could draw some conclusions based on the types of measures we see going into our social-assisted housing program, but outside of that, they'd just be assumptions at this point.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay, I think when LIEN looks at the list that I've just spoke about, and that you had in response to Board Staff IR 20, some strike us as perhaps not improving, necessarily, although maybe they're gas-saving measures, they are not improving the comfort of the tenant, the low-income tenant, and others, for sure, would.


So new energy-efficient windows in our view would improve comfort for low-income tenants; do you agree with that?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. GARDNER:  What about air sealing, weather stripping, caulking?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. GARDNER:  And building cladding, additional insulation?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  And of the list that I've mentioned, is there anything that's missing?  Is there anything else that Union's come up with?


MS. BROOKS:  In terms of specific measures?  At this time, no.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


Would Union agree to, as part of the screening process, or eligibility criteria for when they're implementing this program or not, one measure for the entire building, building envelope, such as the three we just mentioned, windows or air sealing or building cladding, for example, that provides direct benefits to low-income tenants, improve their comfort, in order to assess whether a building is eligible for this program?


MS. BROOKS:  I think Union is definitely open to exploring how we can continuously improve our programs, and obviously we have an objective of trying to provide the tenants with benefits.


There definitely would be some hurdles if we were putting requirements around certain types of measures, such as take-up rates, and as we've outlined in this IR response as well, there are other indirect benefits that we think that the customers will receive from other types of measures than the ones specifically that would address comfort in the unit, but these are discussions that Union would continue to have.  We've been working with the low-income working group to develop this program over the past few years, and we plan to continue to have those discussions as this program evolves.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


So just on that note, so I just want to understand, of the measures that we haven't -- could be -- or the other benefits that could be there that we haven't discussed here, you know, direct improvements to comfort for low-income tenants, what other improvements would there be under this program?  And I'm not talk -- so let me give you an example.


Aerators or low-flow showerheads would not directly benefit or improve comfort of low-income tenants for this program, in our view.  And I don't know if you agree with that.  While they are a gas-saving measure, they won't improve the comfort.  Do you agree?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So what other benefits are there to low-income tenants besides improving comfort in this program?


[Panel confers]


MS. BROOKS:  So if I can ask if we can pull up Exhibit B, topic 5, Staff 20 -- okay.  Sorry.  So if we look at -- here at (c), Union has outlined the financial benefits that will be indirect to the customer, and this is really around the above guidelines increases, so it's around mitigating potential rent increases due to the landlord on their own accord, putting large capital investments, and their ability to go beyond the guidelines in order to recoup those costs or any sort of absorbent operational costs that they're realizing due to high energy costs that they could then also download to the customer, so the indirect benefit would be protecting them from those potential future costs.


MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Quinn?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  With the assist -- so Ms. Shaw -- I hope to be as effective as Mr. Millar was in cobbling together this and making it clear for the Board.


Actually, the -- what was just up there, Ms. Shaw, if we could start there, because I just wanted to clarify something that was part of the exchange with Mr. Gardner, and I want to respect that it was his cross-examination, but I thought I heard something that was different from my understanding in regards to the Novatherm panel.


I thought I heard you say that Union cannot offer the Novatherm panel, as opposed to -- its application would not be as broad as in Enbridge territory.  Could you distinguish that?  Did I hear it right the first time?


MS. BROOKS:  I believe what was stated was that we have not been able to come up with an alternative to Novatherm panels.


MR. QUINN:  But could you offer a Novatherm panel?


MS. BROOKS:  Our approximation is that around 10 percent or less of the eligible building stock would be eligible for a Novatherm panel.


MR. QUINN:  But again, so it's less widespread than Enbridge.  But you are not precluded from offering it; it is just the target market would not be as large?


MS. BROOKS:  There is nothing that is specifically precluding us from not offering it, yes.


MR. GARDNER:  If I may jump in, can we get an undertaking to confirm what that percentage is?  Because my understanding from the technical conference is it was a lot less than 10 percent.


I could be wrong.  I think it was just set as very low, something less than 8 percent, but you are saying 10 percent now.


MS. BROOKS:  We can confirm that, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  to confirm the percentage of eligible building stock that would be eligible for a Novatherm panel


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for distinguishing that.  I just wanted to make sure that the record was clear, and our understanding was clear on that opportunity.


Continuing on multi-family market rate, with thanks to Union and Ms. Shaw, if you could pull up the interrogatory response from Enbridge.FRPO.1?


And this is where, Madam Chair, I was hoping to put together a compendium because I am drawing on Enbridge interrogatory responses in comparison to Union.  That's why I was reluctant to go today so with -- Union has identified that they can pull up the Enbridge interrogatory.


Thank you.  So in respect to Enbridge's work in this private rental market in the application of low-income benefits, what we see over time obviously is from a standing start of zero in the years 2012 and 2013 through the work that's a collaborative effort of a number of parties, including LIEN and other parties, we have demonstrated through Enbridge's results that the private rental market actually in 2014 exceeded the amount of savings from the social rental housing, and allowed Enbridge to have, in this case, comparable savings to 2013.


I'm putting that out for comparison purposes, and Union is aware I brought this up at the technical conference.


I would now like to turn to Union Gas.FRPO.1 response, thank you.


Clearly, we had asked about social multi-rate housing and market rate multi-family housing, and we have the numbers in terms of incentive and promotional expenditures applied to the social and assisted housing in that same period of time, 2012 to 2014, with an approximate -- and this is round number math, but a 70 percent increase in incentives from 2012 to 2014.


However, the market rate multi-family sector was considered to be not eligible.


Would you agree with me -- and I will turn to Ms. Lynch or Ms. Brooks.  Would you agree with me that we were working towards the development of a strategy to try to address this market in that period of time?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. QUINN:  And I understand we have had some challenges, as you alluded earlier, but in moving forward, in having discussions and in preparation for this proceeding, we had talked about it, and we appreciate that Union has added a 2016 target for private market multi-family.  And the best reference I have for this -- because I have references in a number of different areas here -- but it's the Staff evidence in table 29 on page 99, so that's Exhibit L, OEB.Staff at page 99.  Thank you.


And again I appreciate -- and Synapse has pointed this out, that while Enbridge has made some progress, considerable progress in this market, Union has applied for a target in 2016 and actually applied an incentive associated with that target, which we appreciate.


Our challenge is in reconciling the two situations and I understand the issue of the Novatherm panel.


How does Union -- at this juncture, in terms of your opportunity to meet that target, what is Union's strategy in terms of moving forward to meet that initial target for 2016?


MS. BROOKS:  I think Union is still working through what our market strategy will be in 2016 to achieve our targets, which is why we put forward a demonstration project in 2015 in order to generate those learnings and apply it to our overall market strategy.


MR. QUINN:  That's helpful on a high-level to understand, and we respect that we need to understand some aspects of the market better to be able to target it effectively.


I guess my concern is twofold.  First off, when I compare the targets for social and assisted housing, still in 2016, while Enbridge has had results which have the private market exceed the social and assisted housing market, Union is providing a target that is -- well, one-seventh of what your target is for your multi-family cumulative savings.


In our view, I guess, there is a concern we have relative to the level of that target.  Is Union amenable to increasing that target with the results of what it gets into its pilot project in 2015?


MS. BROOKS:  So if I can just ask that we turn to Exhibit A, tab 3, appendix A, page 93?


So Union can't speak specifically to the drivers of Enbridge's programs, the types of successes they've seen based on their building makeup based on the type of technologies that they incent.


But what we can point you to is how Union did build up our low-income market rate targets and the rationale that we used, based on our limited knowledge at the time of the market.


So we did look at buildings in our franchise that have a 70 percent or more likelihood of being low-income based on a forward sortation address, which is the first three digits of a postal code.


We then narrowed down that list, looking at buildings that would be 25 units or more, so looking at buildings that would be three storeys or higher.


We then drew from our multi-family experience in the social housing market, and made some assumes on what types of projects that we see within this market.  And then we applied some relevant discount factors, so we considered the number of projects that won't be taken due to capital constraints and due to available financing.


And based on that, we built up projections of what we thought was reasonable over the course of the plan.


MR. QUINN:  Those capital constraints and financing that you referred to at the end, whose capital constraints are we referring to?


MS. BROOKS:  The building owners.


MR. QUINN:  And how did you assess those capital constraints?


MS. BROOKS:  It would have been based on the teams looking at different external reports, anything that would help them inform them of the market, and essentially it comes down to a judgment call made from assumptions.


MR. QUINN:  Is it anywhere in the evidence?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. BROOKS:  Can I just confirm what you are asking what is in evidence?


MR. QUINN:  You have said that they looked at other reports, relied on some judgments about capital constraints of the private market.  But I haven't seen any, and I don't believe we discussed any in the working group that would be -- that would have informed this type of judgment.  So I was just asking what you were relying on.


MS. BROOKS:  We would have to confirm the specifics of that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you would do that by way of undertaking.  We're concerned with the proactive steps that may be taken in this area, what assumptions have been made, possibly testing those assumptions in or outside of this proceeding, moving forward.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  union TO PROVIDE THE PROACTIVE STEPS THAT MAY BE takeN IN THIS AREA, WHAT ASSUMPTIONS HAVE BEEN MADE, POSSIBLY TESTING THOSE ASSUMPTIONS IN OR OUTSIDE OF THIS PROCEEDING, MOVING FORWARD.


MR. QUINN:  And so I want to be clear with that last statement.  We would like to know where we're starting from, and if it informs changes going forward, and even if we have to wait 'til midterm, we are this for the long-term, and we'd like to work with Union in that regard.


I do have another question, because you brought it up, and I was going to ask, and I don't want to be too comparative, but in reality, Enbridge and Union do share information, in fact, of -- evidenced in this proceeding, the collaboration that's ongoing.


What has Union learned from the Enbridge experience which would be applicable into early success in 2015?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. BROOKS:  We've learned sort of in general terms their approach and what's working.  And we're also -- our understanding is that a significant portion of the savings that they're realizing are coming from Novatherm panels, which is not a measure that we have available in our offering mix.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, I'll address that.  So I guess the last question I have in this area -- and I respect that we are almost two-thirds of the way through the year -- does Union have a pilot project underway for 2015 in a market rate building?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, we currently do.


MR. QUINN:  There is one?  Or is there multiple?


MS. BROOKS:  We believe there is one in market right now.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, respecting privacy and such, I won't ask for the name, and I'll follow that up with you later.


Okay, I want to move into some of the areas Mr. Millar touched on earlier, and we share these concerns as ratepayers.  I appreciate Mr. Millar's questions in this area, and hopefully I won't cover any of the ground that he already has, but one area he brought up that is of concern to us is the issue of behavioural NO power, and I wasn't quick enough in grabbing the reference, but I don't know that we need it, but I thought it was an SEC interrogatory that stipulated an 87-cent-per-cubic-metre-saved is the cost of O power; do you recall that conversation you had with Mr. Millar?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, I do.


MR. MILLAR:  I think the undertaking is SEC 31.


MR. QUINN:  31?  Okay.  Thank you.


Okay.  Yes, 88.  Thank you.  And I think the answer you gave to Mr. Millar was, while the direct budget for behavioural is not TRC-positive -- there is 87, thank you -- it in fact -- even when you spread that cost over your residential programs, you end up with an overall TRC positive; is that summary of your discussion with him in that area?


MS. BROOKS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And I did happen to -- I was struggling with how to look at this, and one of the ways I thought might be helpful is, where does that benefit get established, and if we could pull up CME 11, attachment 1, and page 20.  I was concerned that the benefits -- thank you, I think we have the right reference there, thank you very much -- behavioural comes into your TRC calculations starting in 2016, even though it's in 2015, but when I looked at the skew of what I was reading here, I'm seeing that you have the home-reno rebate, which I understand behavioural is going to encourage, behavioural .6, home reno at 1.4, and yet ESK seems to be the shining star in terms of TRC.


Does behavioural impact ESK?


MS. BROOKS:  Can you just clarify what you mean by "impact"?


MR. QUINN:  Well, my understanding was that behavioural would help customers know that -- you know, and the phrase was used more in some of the dialogues we had about keeping up with the Joneses in terms of the energy efficiency of one customer versus another.  That is part of what behavioural is supposed to impact; is that correct?


MS. BROOKS:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so I understood that would encourage customers to look at the home-reno opportunity to say, My house is not as energy-efficient as my neighbour's.  Maybe I should do something about it.


And so if I put behavioural together with home-reno rebate, does -- is the TRC positive?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. BROOKS:  The analysis would have been performed at the program level, so I wouldn't have a concrete answer for those two offerings combined.


MR. QUINN:  But there would be a mathematical calculation that could be done to take those two components only and say what the TRC benefit would be?


[Panel confers]


MR. QUINN:  I would be happy to take by undertaking if you don't have the data in front of you to let you know if that would be --


MS. BROOKS:  I think we're just trying to understand exactly what you're trying to understand.  So are you looking for what would be the overall TRC if we removed the ESKs from the residential program offering?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, simply enough.

MS. BROOKS:  So, yes, we could provide you with that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  UNION TO ADVISE THE OVERALL TRC IF ESKS WERE REMOVED FROM THE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAM OFFERING


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Also in the exchange with Mr. Millar, he addressed the idea of the formulaic target setting.  Again, maybe it's the way I heard it, but I had understood Union to say that the formulaic setting was similar -- maybe I don't want to paraphrase it.

Is Union saying that there was a formulaic setting in 2012 to 2014, and that's one of the reasons why you've applied it in the regime going-forward?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. DIBAJI:  Yes, that's one of the reasons.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And again I was learning DSM as we were in the process of the 2012-14 settlement agreement, so my recollection wasn't all that clear.

So again, I sent this to Ms. Shaw because I don't think -- is the settlement agreement somewhere else, the 2012 to 2014 settlement agreement?  Is it somewhere else in evidence?  I couldn't find it.

MS. LONG:  Not in this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I took the liberty of pulling it off the Board's website, and I sent it to Ms. Shaw.  So with Union counsel's acceptance, could we just pull up the settlement -- all I want to do, Mr. Smith, is just take a look at how the formulas worked in that regime.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, do you have any objection to that.

MR. SMITH:  We do not.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, and I appreciate Ms. Shaw receiving the email and I want to be respectful of the process here.

So actually in the target setting, Ms. Shaw, it's -- under -- yes, if you just would -- I didn't write down the page.  It looks like about -- it's in 5.6 -- there it was there, just up.  Sorry, it's actually in the other direction.  It's after that table.  I apologize, I should have written the page down.

Just below that, we have the establishment of targets after the resource allocation.  That's the area here -- there we go.

If we start with the very first and we can go down -- sorry, that table, Ms. Shaw.  Thank you.

And this is the part that was challenging me.  I had some recollection of targets and again, I was learning from others who knew a lot more about DSM than I.  In -- because this is a settlement agreement and there is can checks and balances and trade-offs in that process, I won't go through some of the detail of my recollection.

But I see metric target levels that have not just a formulaic aspect to them, but also an aspect of in the alternative, like the higher of.  If you look under deep savings, we have the higher of 2012 actuals plus 1 percent, or five and a half percent.

Now, clearly this was deep savings that were an area the Board had encouraged utilities to seek, and we arrived at these formulae.  But as I noted, there is a formula that recognizes that there is some learning that goes on in this process.

Would you agree with me that there is a recognition, at least as showed up in deep savings here, that we may not know the precise number, but we have an idea of setting it one by or the other depending on the success that the utility may have?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. LYNCH:  Mr. Quinn, could you please repeat the question?

MR. QUINN:  In my thought process, I was trying to distinguish what we did as a result of this settlement agreement, and it looked like there was a recognition that a couple of things are going to occur.

One is we are not exactly sure of the number, so we have a target setting that's kind of in the alternative.  So my question is, in this regard, the formulas that Union is proposing in this regime don't have an "in the alternative"; they are exactly formulaically set.

And in fact, and this is the second issue, they are set based upon the year prior's fully audited results, whereas in 2012 to 2014 we have set it on the previous year, not -- like 2013 targets are going to be based on 2012 post-audit, and that's different, I understand, than what Union is proposing for this regime.

MR. DIBAJI:  No, that is incorrect.  Our target formula that we put forward is consistent with this approach.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so it's in terms of the inflationary impact.  However, there is no “in the alternative” -- and maybe I can cut to the chase, because it is a philosophical discussion that I've had with Staff previously.

Where in these formulaic progressions, or potentially regressions, and I understand that could be the case, but it's acknowledged that in program delivery there is a learning curve; would you agree with me about that?

MR. DIBAJI:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. QUINN:  So where in your formula does Union apply any increase as a result of learning curve?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. DIBAJI:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. QUINN:  You've acknowledged that there is a learning curve associated with program delivery, and an inflationary type or 2 percent increase year over year, in my view, doesn't include any benefit of learning curve.

In other words, that learning curve potential increase would be harvested by the utility, and not necessarily enjoyed by ratepayers.  That's my concern.

So my question is: Could Union propose a learning curve factor, or is it prepared to accept one in this proceeding?

MR. DIBAJI:  I would say that implicit in the formula, there is a learning curve in that formulaic approach.

As we are more cost effective in delivering the Program, as we gain more experience and the cost per acquisition of reaching those targets are less, then our targets in the following year will go up.

MR. QUINN:  By 2 percent?

MR. DIBAJI:  No, by the formulaic approach.  So this formulaic approach assumes that as you are more cost effective in delivering the program and you multiply by the following year's budget, your target actually goes up by that cost effectiveness increase, not that 2 percent. That 2 percent isn't added on top of that.

MR. QUINN:  The cost effectiveness of the prior year?

MR. DIBAJI:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So as we do in IRM, there is a productivity or stretch factor.

Is Union prepared to accept a productivity or stretch factor associated with these targets?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. DIBAJI:  I would have to say no to that prior question.  As our proposal is in front of the Board, we have a formulaic approach that ensures as you are more cost-effective in delivering those targets the following year's targets will increase.  We have also included a 2 percent increase in the targets above and beyond that, so we feel that the formulaic approach we've put forward is sufficient.


MR. QUINN:  Did your 2 percent increase -- was it informed by any data or experience?


MR. DIBAJI:  It was informed by the previous framework.


MR. QUINN:  By the previous framework, but that isn't reliant on the data, the actual results of the previous three years?


MR. DIBAJI:  No, it is not.


MR. QUINN:  Would you have some data to support that, in terms of your actual experiences?  Somewhere -- if you can point to me somewhere on the record as to what productivity assessments Union's done in its DSM programs, that would be helpful to inform us in terms of the opportunities going forward.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DIBAJI:  Mind if I ask you this one more time:  Can you repeat the question again?


MR. QUINN:  And I'll try to be succinct.  For programs Union has delivered over time specific to the programs, has Union analyzed its productivity improvements in the delivery mechanisms in a way that would inform a productivity or stretch target that could be applied?


MR. DIBAJI:  Ultimately we used our judgment.


MR. QUINN:  So no data?


MR. DIBAJI:  No.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, well, I'm going to leave more to my fellow counterparts in the days to come here, and I will end with those as my questions for today.  Thank you for your indulgence on the moving back and forth from the screen, but I was just trying to make sure we used our time effectively.


MR. LONG:  I appreciate that.  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.


So we are finished for today, and we will commence tomorrow at 9:30.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:01 p.m.
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